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--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MR. SCHUCH:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started now.  This is day 2 of the technical conference for the Union and Enbridge Nexus long-term transportation contracts.  My name is Colin Schuch, and I am a member of Board Staff.  With me is Ian Richler today.

We have quite a lengthy agenda today, so I think we will get started as soon as we can.  We will go through appearances.

First, I will take appearances from Enbridge.  Mr. Stevens?
Appearances:


MR. STEVENS:  Thanks, Colin.  David Stevens here on behalf of Enbridge.  With me is Joel Denomy.

MR. WOLNIK:  John Wolnik, representing APPrO.

MR. KEZIER:  Charles Keizer, on behalf of Union.

MR. ROSS:  Murray Ross, TransCanada, and Matthew Ducharme.

MR. YAUCH:  Brady Yauch, on behalf of Energy Probe.

MR. SCHUCH:  Good.  Mr. Stevens?  Oh, I think we may have a preliminary matter.

MR. KEZIER:  Yes.  Just a follow-on from yesterday.  Union took away from the technical conference to consider a certain undertaking that was posed to the Union panel by Mr. Quinn.  And as I understand it from review of the transcript that the undertaking -- the principal undertaking that he was considering was that he was requesting that Union do its 2017-2018 peak day analysis with and without the 2017 Dawn Parkway project using 158 incremental supply at Kirkwall and not from Dawn, and give us the results of what capacity is available at Parkway for redelivery downstream on those peak days.

So we have had a look at the transcript and we have also had a look at FRPO 18 and 27.  And so Union's position is that it's prepared to provide an undertaking in respect of the question of incremental supply at Kirkwall, with the Dawn Parkway project in play.  And, in so providing that response, it will provide clarification with respect to interrogatory 18 and 27, and clarify any discrepancies between the numbers that exist there.

It will not provide the undertaking with respect to the absence or without the 2017 Dawn Parkway project.  It's Union's position that this is an issue or a topic for another proceeding that's currently under way, and my friend can pursue those enquiries in that proceeding.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MR. QUINN:  Colin, this is Dwayne.  Thank you for Union's consideration and your willingness to undertake a portion of what we're looking for.

I asked you a question yesterday, Mr. Keizer, and your staff may have had an opportunity to have reviewed the IRs submitted in the Dawn Parkway proceeding, which we in fact have asked that question.

Are you saying, based on your position from yesterday, any of your responses in the Dawn Parkway proceeding are not able to be brought into this proceeding by way of reference?

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I'm just trying to understand your position.

MR. SCHUCH:  I think we should assign an undertaking number.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, thank you, Colin.  Sorry.

MR. SCHUCH:  That will be JT2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.1:  UNION TO CONFIRM WHETHER any of UNION'S responses in the Dawn Parkway proceeding are not able to be brought into this proceeding by way of reference

MR. DE ROSE^:  Sorry, before we go on.  It's Vince DeRose.  I just want to make sure I understand, and if it's Union's position that evidence that is on the public record in another proceeding is not admissible in this proceeding or cannot be relied upon in this proceeding, that, to me, is a pretty significant change in previous Board practice and previous practice of Union and the other utilities.

Did I hear that right?  I guess the question for Union:  One, did I hear that right?  And secondly, if I did, to the extent that any parties do want to rely upon evidence from other proceedings in this application, is that something that we need to fight about now?  Or is it something that would be dealt with at the hearing before the panel hearing this case?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, just to clarify.  Firstly, with respect to the issue of consideration of the undertaking, without the 2017 Dawn Parkway facility question.  I mean, in our view, that's not relevant to this proceeding.  I mean, this proceeding is about the approval of the Nexus contract for transportation to Dawn.  It's not about whether the Dawn Parkway or the Dawn facilities for 2017 go ahead or not go ahead.

So, in our view, it's not relevant to these proceedings and so we're not providing the undertaking.

With respect to anything admissible that is on the public record elsewhere, to the extent that you want to bring evidence into this proceeding and rely on that evidence, then in my view that's -- if you seek to admit that, then at the time parties would make submissions as to whether it is admissible and whether it's relevant and whether or not the Board should take any due consideration with respect to it.

But I am not going to, in this proceeding, give a blanket waiver with respect to anything that's led or commented on in another proceeding should be somehow automatically admitted in this proceeding.

MR. DE ROSE:  Oh, no.  Fair enough.  I just wanted to make sure that it wasn't your position that somehow that had to be addressed today or before the hearing.

In terms of relevance of prior evidence, I completely agree with you.  It is something that would be dealt with by the Board hearing it at the time.

But that's fine.  I think we're on the same page.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I sense from Mr. Quinn is he was asking us to waive that, and we're not going to waive that.

We would consider each piece of evidence that would be sought to be admitted on its own merit and as to whether it is or is not relevant.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  Thanks, Vince.

MR. SCHUCH:  Are we ready to proceed with questioning?  Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  We are.  Just before we begin, Colin, just one administrative matter.

In preparing for today, we noted that a correction needs to be made to one of Enbridge's interrogatory responses.  And if and as this is necessary, we will do it officially by corrected evidence, but I wanted to just bring it to people's attention right now.

And the reference is CME number 1, so it's I-T1 EGDI CME.1.  And we're on page 2 of 2.  In the first paragraph at the top of that page, in the last sentence, it should read -- it is missing the word "not."

So the proper interrogatory should read:

"While the decisions in such applications provide some guidance as to what prior Board panels have required in order to achieve pre-approval, such decisions are not determinative of future cases."

So again, it is adding the word "not" in the final line of the first paragraph of part (c) of the response to CME 1.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And with that, I would like to introduce Enbridge's witness panel for today.  I believe their CVs have been filed in the proceeding.  Closest to me is Andrew Welburn and further away from me is Jamie LeBlanc.  And, as you will see, their names are on virtually all, if not all, of the interrogatory responses.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 1

Andrew Welburn


Jamie LeBlanc


MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn, are you ready to lead?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am, Colin, thank you.
Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Enbridge, good morning.  Dwayne Quinn here, on behalf of FRPO.  I appreciate your responses to the IRs and I am going to try to get some clarifications as I can on the record today and hopefully work to get a better understanding of your application.

What I wanted to start with, and it is a question that was out of Board's interrogatory 18.  And I've read the -- oh, sorry.  Tell me when you have it, because I can't see that, sorry.

MR. SCHUCH:  Did you say Board Staff 18?

MR. QUINN:  18, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Dwayne, it's David Stevens speaking.  It would be helpful if people could refer to the issue number when you're also referring to the interrogatory.  Just that's the way we have filed things.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, sorry.  T-4, EGDI, staff 18.  Sorry, David.  If I search the last party in the number, it comes up a lot better than trying to find which tab it was under.

MR. LEBLANC:  We have it.


MR. QUINN:  You have it?  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. LEBLANC:  We have it, yes.


MR. QUINN:  What I'm trying to do is separate the diligence aspects that Enbridge has to undertake to be able to, you know, rightfully try to enter into this contract, you know, in a goodwill fashion with Nexus.

Right at the bottom, the last sentence says:
"Should Enbridge's final evaluation supply availability make it uncomfortable with proceeding, then it can terminate the PA within the stated time limits and will not be liable for pre-service costs."

Just starting at the high level, is there anything else in the contract that determines the level of discomfort that Enbridge ought to have, or is it sole discretion?

MR. LEBLANC:  Maybe we can go to the contract here.  I will just see if I flip that up.  So the condition precedent says:

"Customer's confirmation to pipeline no later than 90 days following the receipt of estimated commencement date that it has completed its review and approval of regional supply necessary to support natural gas arrangements associated with customer service under the service agreement respectively."

So it's a fairly broad statement.  I think -- you know,


there are things in the agreement that says we can't, you know, unduly withhold approval or unreasonably withhold.  But assuming our reasons for withholding or for not moving forward in this case were reasonable, then I would argue that we would have the opportunity to withdraw from the agreement.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just a standard of reasonableness then?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  There is no other definition around here.  So I would think it would fall to that standard of reasonableness.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so that's the diligence standard.


The regulatory approval standard, now I don't have a specific reference, but obviously there is a regulatory proposed standard that you must be diligent in pursuing regulatory approvals.


Does the agreement contemplate or is it silent on Enbridge accepting some form of settlement and, on that basis, be able to contract appropriately with Nexus, even if that number, in terms of its quantity, changes the quantity of capacity to be undertaken.


If Union were to settle at a number of X and say that number is what we were able to get and it removes our regulatory risks, so this is our diligence in pursuing it, would your agreement -- in your view, would you be able to have that discretion to come to a settlement and change your number and with the appropriate consequences?


I know you don't have, at least at this point, the most favoured nation status -- and it's a long question, but basically it's a question of Enbridge's view of a settlement, being its regulatory approval, to remove the regulatory risk, and potentially the consequence of that is to change the number.


Does Enbridge have a view on that matter?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  I guess I would start by saying we're not the only party to the agreement.  So anything that Enbridge or -- I guess in this case you're asking or Union or anyone -- I mean, our agreements are virtually the same.

You know, that's only one side of the page or one side of the agreement.  So anything that we might or might not agree to would certainly have to be then taken back to the pipeline and renegotiated, and I don't know where that might go.

But as far as what we, as a party to the contract, can deem as acceptable approval, the agreement says -- and I might be able to find it here.  Just one second.

It says -- well, in the CP, it just says:
"Customer receipt and acceptance of approvals from the OEB in this application no later than October 1."

And I don't know exactly where in the agreement it says it, but I'm pretty sure it says that the judgment of that approval or whatever decision from the OEB is at our sole discretion to decide whether or not it's acceptable to us.  So, you know, we ultimately have to decide if whatever decision gets -- is given to us is acceptable for us to move forward with the precedent agreement.


So, yes, I mean we have some discretion as to what we -- what kind of decision we would accept, but like I would point out -- or the most important thing I think I would point out is that this agreement is between two parties and the pipeline.  You know, when you negotiate these things it's a basket of items where you come to an agreement, and if you start changing parts of that agreement, they may no longer be comfortable with other parts of the agreement, and Then you get into, you know, how do you negotiate something that makes sense for both parties.  So I would just caution that we can all agree to something, but it doesn't ultimately mean that the pipeline is going to be comfortable with the change.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that.  The caveats you placed around the personal implications of a change are accepted and understood.


I guess my specific question, then, and to the extent that you want to consider this and talk with counsel as potential for an undertaking:  If Enbridge were to settle on a number that's different from the number in the contract and the Board were to appropriately approve that number as good for Enbridge, good for Ontario, would Enbridge see that as pursuing its due diligence requirements of getting a contract approved?

MR. STEVENS:  Hi, Dwayne.  It's David Stevens speaking.


I understand your question.  I think the difficulty is, if there was some sort of resolution, even if that resolution were blessed by the Ontario Energy Board, and the resolution contemplated different contract parameters than what's in the precedent agreement, then that could not qualify -- then that could not qualify as preapproval by the Board of this precedent agreement.

It's a two-step process.  If there was some sort of change negotiated by one of the utilities with stakeholders, that still has to pass through Nexus and result in a new precedent agreement before we can take the step of getting preapproval, because it's the new precedent agreement that will have to be preapproved.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that's helpful.

MR. STEVENS:  And I don't say that in any way to suggest that it's impossible.  I don't know whether it's possible or not.  I don't know whether Enbridge is open to that idea.  What I do say, though, is that we can't presume that, because everybody in Ontario agrees on change parameters, that's actually something that is going to be acceptable to the pipeline.  As Jamie said, a lower volume could result in either a flat nom, or it could result in demands for different changes to other negotiated parameters of the precedent agreement.

MR. QUINN:  Again, David, that is very helpful because I'm just trying to look at the possibilities, and I respect that you have clarified there is a two-step process, and Nexus, as the counterparty, would need to be involved prior to seeking the Board approval.  I guess where I was going with this is -- and we don't know procedurally where we may go, but the utilities have expressed a concern about the utilities' discomfort in signing the contract without preapproval, and if the Board does not approve it, then the pipelines would not sign it.  Then the whole project may go down the tubes, so to speak.


What I was trying to find is there a compromise position there where the Board could be in a position of finding an opportunity to preapprove a number that is completely blessed by utilities and the pipeline and the ratepayers signing on to it.  So I'm just trying to seek some common ground here.  And I think that is probably sufficient for now, David, but thanks for your clarification.

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks.

MR. DE ROSE:  Dwayne, it is Vince.  This was actually an area I was going to ask questions on, and I have about three or four questions.  I think it makes sense -- do you mind if I jump in here?  It's right on the exact same topic.

MR. QUINN:  Yeah.  Go ahead, Vince, please.

MR. DE ROSE:  David, it's Vince.  And my guess is that you are going to be the one to answer this because it is more procedural.

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.

MR. DE ROSE:  But I leave it up to you whether you want the panel to, or not.

I, last night, went through some options of what I sort of, in my mind, thought what are the options before the Board.  And I just want to see if Enbridge agrees.

One option is the Board could just grant pre-approval of the PA as is.  I think we agree on that.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.

MR. DE ROSE:  And then the other option is they could just say, "No, we do not grant pre-approval."

That is sort of the two extreme options.

MR. STEVENS:  I think those are the natural options in response to the way the application is phrased.

MR. DE ROSE:  Fair enough.  I don't disagree with you, but I actually thought, as I was going through sort of what, what are the -- what is available before the Board?  What could the Board do -- and I'm not suggesting that we are proponents of any of these.

But the Board could either say yes in its entirety; no in its entirety; or they could, I believe, approve, pre‑approve costs up to a certain amount.  So I don't know whether you would call it a cap, but they could pre-approve a portion of the costs.

So if we just stop there.  Does Enbridge agree that that's something that is available to the Board if they elect to?

MR. STEVENS:  I'm not sure.  I would have to look at the guidelines carefully again and the Board's statements when they issued the guidelines.  I mean, the Board is the master of its own process, and I suppose its decision can say whatever it should choose, but I'm not sure that's the path that is laid out for them.

I would suggest that what might be more likely -- and this happened in the biomethane case a few years ago, where the Board used the guidelines as -- the pre-approval guidelines as sort of a measuring stick.

I think what might be more likely is, the Board could say, "If the contract looked different in these ways, we would be inclined to approve it."  Or they might say, "If you were to file additional evidence to establish these things, we might be inclined to pre-approve it."

In my mind, that's a more likely outcome than the Board saying, "We'll cap risk at a certain level.  The rest of it is on you."

MR. DE ROSE:  And you've actually just given me a fourth option that I hadn't thought about, so thank you, David.

So one is a conditional approval.  I guess that is another option.

But just on my -- up to a percentage, and I guess the way I saw it playing out is that it could occur a couple of ways.  The Board could just say, "We will provide pre‑approval of costs up to a certain threshold so that we give shareholder protection.  So that it significantly mitigates the risk.  Pick your number, 95 percent of the as applied for contract, 90 percent."

Or the other thing that I actually thought the Board might be able to do -- and again would like to have Enbridge's agreement or disagreement on this -- is, as I understand the way that the PA works is that you have -- you have your tolls, but those are currently plus or minus -- I think it is plus or minus 15 percent.

MR. LEBLANC:  There is a cost tracker on the fixed toll that is related to the actual ultimate costs of the bill, yes.

MR. DE ROSE:  Right.  And so again, the Board -- and again I am just trying to understand what sort of available -- what is the availability of different outcomes for the Board.

I mean, the Board could say, "We approve it at the toll as applied for, but to the extent that it is above that toll, you need to come pack and demonstrate why that is prudent."  That is another thing that the Board could theoretically do.

MR. STEVENS:  I suppose they could do that.  I'm not sure that that would ultimately qualify from the utilities' perspective as the required pre-approval under the precedent agreement.

MR. LEBLANC:  No.  I guess from the utilities' point of view, the reason why we -- you know, we're giving you the details of the agreement and telling you the maximum potential costs of the agreement, I think, is to make folks aware of the maximum possible toll and to get approval, should it go to that maximum toll up front.

Because you have to look at it this way, you know. Gas supply -- this is an unusual contract.  It's not a normal contract, in our contracting.  It's from a new place, it is a greenfield pipe.  It is 15 years.  It's a substantial amount.

And we want to make sure that, you know, shareholders are not at risk for it, because in gas supply, as you know, we pass on the gas supply costs at cost.  There is no -- there's no benefit or revenue opportunity, or whatever, for Enbridge in doing these contracts.

And the benefits of this contract are for the ratepayer.  And so, you know, we think that the ratepayer should bear the risks of the contract.

Now, we've done, I think, a pretty good job in negotiating the contract to protect the ratepayer from the various risks involved, but ultimately we think those who can benefit from the contract should also bear the risks, and the shareholders don't.

So I don't think that they should bear the risk.

MR. DE ROSE:  I wasn't trying to get into suggesting that it should be reduced, or anything.  I'm just trying to sort of put on the table and understand what the available remedies are, or what the decisions of the Board could be.

And then my final question would be --


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry.  Just one extra thing on this, Vince, just to kind of fill out the picture.

In the event that the Board were to take your example, say, "We are comfortable with pre-approving the set toll.  We're not comfortable with the cost tracker."  Enbridge would see that, I assume, as not amounting to pre-approval.

But what that does do is then that does trigger the next part of the precedent agreement, which requires the parties to spend 30 days negotiating to see if they can find some other acceptable resolution.

So, to the extent that the Board was to provide some guidance, that might be impactful towards the future discussions that the parties had to see whether the precedent agreement can be salvaged or not.

MR. DE ROSE:  Right.  And that actually was my final question, where I was going to try to end it off and, Dwayne, I'm sorry, then I will turn it back over to you.

But if the Board -- and let's take your example, David, or I guess my example that you have just now used as your example, so the Board approves the set tolls but not the cost tracker.

At that point, as I understand the PA agreement, it's not up to the pipeline owner to determine whether that is or is not sufficient pre-approval.  That is up to Enbridge.

So at that point, Enbridge would have an option.  They could either say, "We're willing to accept the, for instance, the cost tracker risk.  And we're going to continue on and we will continue with the PA as it is."

Or you would have the option to say, "This is not pre‑approval and we're going to try to negotiate for 30 days."

MR. STEVENS:  I think that's fair.  I think in that situation Enbridge would be within its rights to indicate that the pre-approval being granted is not actually pre approval of the precedent agreement in its current form.

MR. DE ROSE:  But it would be Enbridge's decision --

MR. STEVENS:  Enbridge does have the opportunity -- either party has the opportunity to waive certain of the conditions precedent, should they decide that they're no longer important.

I think Jamie has explained why this particular condition precedent is not something that Enbridge is likely to waive, but the contractual option exists.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.  But I guess what I'm really getting at is, at that point, it would be Enbridge's decision whether to waive it or not?  Nexus could not determine that pre-approval of, for instance, the set toll is not sufficient?

MR. STEVENS:  No.  I think all that Nexus could do would be to somehow come up with a position that Enbridge was being unreasonable and wasn't entitled to stand on its rights of this condition precedent.
  
MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  And, Dwayne, thank you for the indulgence.

MR. QUINN:  Not at all, Vince.  That was helpful too.  I'm trying to seek an understanding of what the process is, and David helped, and you have encouraged the path.

So I am going to ask one more question, and then we will get back to more technical questions.  To the extent that parties were interested in some form of settlement -- and I know it might be complex, but I am just throwing it out there.  To the extent that the parties were open to a settlement and met the Board accordingly, if the Board with to provide, in its procedural order, the opportunity for a settlement conference, based upon what you have clarified, David, could a settlement out of that settlement conference not go back to Nexus before it goes back to the Board to ensure that everybody would be on side?

MR. STEVENS:  I don't think' it's impossible, Dwayne.  I don't know what Enbridge's or, for that matter, Union's appetite is for a settlement conference, and we would have to carefully look at the timelines within the precedent agreement to determine what right the parties have to sit back and hold off from proceeding with this attempt to achieve preapproval of the existing precedent agreements.  But if there could be an allowance found for that somewhere within the precedent agreement, then the scenario that you point out, certainly it's not impossible.

MR. LEBLANC:  I would just add that, you know, the likelihood of us being interested in a settlement would depend on really the issues, I think, that intervenors were at issue with, and there are probably some that would just be seen as virtually a non-starter for us.  I never say never, but -- and there may be others that are easier to deal with.

But I would say that, you know, a lot of time and effort was put forward negotiating this agreement.  More of my life than I would care to admit has been poured into this agreement.  I think I started negotiating this agreement, the first agreement, in or around September of 2013, and we finished finally signing the last amendment in -- I think it was June 5th of 2015.  So there has been a tremendous amount of effort put forward in negotiating an agreement that we think is balanced and fair to both parties.  And the truth is because Nexus was so interested in the utilities being part of this build, I would say that they -- they bent, you know, far more on this agreement than most precedent agreements that you would see.

I mean, I can point to, you know, recent precedent agreements that I have signed with both, you know, TransCanada and Union, and, you know, we were in a very different position with Nexus.  They really wanted us on this project, and it gave us a lot of leverage to negotiate things that made a lot of sense for the project.

So I think the deal that we negotiated is a good one, and I just hesitate to be too quick to go down the road of A, let's open this all up again.  I personally did it once with Nexus.  That's why we're here now and we weren't here six months ago is because we withdrew from the first precedent agreement and renegotiated another agreement that we thought was more appropriate for ratepayers.

So I just hesitate to not to be too quick to go down that road and to really consider the terms of the agreement that we have already negotiated and the benefits and the risks involved and just make sure that we don't run too quickly down that road, I guess, is all I would say.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Fair enough, Jamie, and due respect for the work that you put in to try to get the right contract.  I asked about the evolution of the contract and read what was there.  I understand there was an element of diligence that was put in on behalf of getting the right package of -- packages of tools in your contract.  So while I'm exploring this alternative, I understand it is very complex and would take some time, but it is a mitigated risk for all parties.

And, you know, again, due respect, there is two parties at the table as you mentioned, the ratepayers are the residual claimant of the contract if the Board preapproves it, so we would like to have a voice in terms of our view of what is good for Ontario.

I will leave it at that.  I appreciate your and David's answers in trying to help us to achieve the impossible.

I'm going to move to some more technical questions, if I may.

MR. LEBLANC:  Sure.

MR. QUINN:  Probably the best place to start, and it won't be a surprise to you, Jamie, is in -- and I'm going to get the tab right at the start -- tab 1, EGDI.FRPO 14.

MR. LEBLANC:  I have it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You know, of course, we were asking about the potential for service from Waddington to Iroquois and how that could be viewed by Enbridge.

Now, why I asked the question -- and I should have asked the follow-up questions I'm hoping to ask now -- but would be it's these questions say:  Would 40 TJs be greater or less than the base load for Ottawa service territory in the summer?  And you say it is less.

Unless you know it off the top of your head, Jamie, would you undertake to provide what the base load is, your summer base load, for the Ottawa area?

MR. LEBLANC:  I can -- if it's sufficient for you, I can give you a ballpark.  It is roughly 45 -- or 55 TJs a day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's helpful.  That probably cuts to the chase here, and I won't spend too much time.

However, because of know, you know, the evolutions that are going on, Enbridge would be aware that there has been significant discussion around the opportunity of moving gas from Waddington to Iroquois.  It says under here that you're aware of the possibility.  Do you have anything more for the record in terms of your understanding of that evolution?

MR. LEBLANC:  Nothing, per se.  I mean, we certainly are monitoring that, and you and I have even talked before about whether or not that could be a, you know, a potential in the future.  And I think it probably does -- it is an opportunity in the future.  We're still not comfortable, I think, with the pricing at Iroquois and that everything -- how everything is going to get built out.  But I think, down the road, as some flexibility frees up in our supply plan, that it could be an option, certainly.

And, you know, because there's no storage there and I think is why you go down the base load route.  You know, there's some amount over time could be built up probably something at or below that base load amount coming through Iroquois.

We kind of see it as something -- you know, we bid into TransCanada's 2017 end coast for our requirements to winter 2017, I think or -- any way a couple of years out.  I always get the -- 2016-17, and starting November 1, of 2017 as well.  Right?  So 2017/18.

So we bid out to our winter 2017-18 winter requirements, but beyond that, there's potentially some opportunity to look at that point.

And, you know, our growth in the EDA tends to be 6,000 to 7,000 gJs of demand annually is sort of the gross.  So there's certainly growth there that would support potentially future contracts from Iroquois.

So, yes, I guess I would just say we're interested in it.  We're not quite comfortable going there yet, but if the right things happen, certainly it is another way to diversify our portfolio for the benefit of ratepayers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you for that answer.  I'm going to just parse it out just a bit, because you jumped to one of my questions in terms of base load.  What would you see the merits of -- and given -- and I'm just saying this hypothetically, Jamie, but if you have 55 as your base load in the summer at Ottawa and you would hypothetically have a contract of 40 at Iroquois, what do you see that in terms of operational benefits of having such a contract?

MR. LEBLANC:  I mean, I'm not sure what operational benefits can -- that's kind of a broad question.

I guess, you know, it's proximate to the -- our customer zone and provides some diversity of path, some diversity of suppliers into that area.

So operationally it provides just another, you know, another path and some diversity, in the case of issues on the pipelines as well.

So I guess there are operational -- sorry, emergency circumstances-type benefits and there are also benefits in terms of diversity of supply and path.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So last I heard was security of supply, system integrity, system reliability-type operationally?

MR. LEBLANC:  Sure, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And contractually it could reduce your STS requirements because you wouldn't have to float the gas back to Dawn and then back to Ottawa in the winter?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't know if it does that for us.  You know, the way our overall supply plan is working is, going forward -- actually, maybe I will turn it up just to bring people along a little bit.

I think it is Board Staff 7.  I'm not sure if it is going to help us or not.  We'll see.  Yes.  See, if you look at our -- in the attachment on page 4 of 4 -- and the little diagrams are my own little way of sort of thinking about this.

Yeah, it is difficult to see from here because we don't have the franchise separated necessarily from the -- I guess what I would say is, right now, we have about 265,000 a day on TransCanada and we have a couple of hundred thousand a day coming in through Niagara.

Those -- that combination of, you know, in the mid‑400s is about our overall franchise summer base load.

So the way things are working out, you know, we will be able to move gas to the right places in the summer.  So we'll have about the right amount of gas coming to the franchise on TransCanada, either through Niagara or through long-haul, and we'll have the other gas that we're putting into storage, you know, it doesn't always work out exactly like this, but a lot of our gas going into storage can come through the other paths.

And so I don't know if, in the future, if, you know, we would be swapping, I guess, long-haul for this, if we were going to do it today.  But that's why I say Iroquois makes some sense as a way of covering off some growth in the future, and we continue to build sort of that amount of gas that is coming in as base load into the franchise in the summer.  If that makes any sense to you.

MR. QUINN:  It makes sense.  It makes perfect sense to me, Jamie and I understand some of the implications, but I haven't tried to go through your inventory of contracts to see what's available to you in terms of the last part you talked about, swapping out long-haul for short-haul.

And given the fact that we've only got a certain amount of time here this morning, would you be willing to undertake what -- you provided a good overview of the benefits of 40 TJs.  Can you -- would you be willing to look at the feasibility of the ability to take a contract of 40 TJs by 2017 or 2018 in your portfolio?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think this is getting outside of the point of this, the scope of this hearing, Dwayne.  I don't see how that is important to the decision of the Nexus contract.  I mean, maybe you could help me, but I just -- I don't see that.

MR. QUINN:  Well, you know, I appreciate you're trying to understand, Jamie, and we went through this in more detail with Union yesterday, but if the Board is going to pre-approve the cost consequences, it ought to be -- it should have established that the utilities have undertaken a good look at their portfolios and other economic alternatives.  I am promoting this Iroquois Point as a potential alternative that could be more beneficial than either Nexus or, potentially, more long-haul.

There's an adjustment in your portfolio you have shown here, and it is helpful.  I like this picture.  It helps see some things.  I know it doesn't separate the EDA and CDA and Niagara very well, but that's okay.  We can -- at least you have an overview of your portfolio.

So what I was trying to do is say:  What is the feasibility:  Enbridge has the option of going from 110 to 150 in its contracting, and I look at that and say:  Would 40 TJs be better placed more at Nexus, or would 40 TJs be better placed coming off Iroquois?

And so I'm trying to look at the feasibility of that, because my understanding is -- and you can correct me if I'm wrong, but you are looking at a pre-approval of the cost consequences of your contract, including the option to go to 150 TJs?

MR. LEBLANC:  No, that's not correct.  We are only asking for pre-approval of the 110.

You know, that 40,000 is -- it's a nice option to have.  It was something that we thought was a benefit as sort of a bit of an open option for ratepayers, but our current expectation is, we wouldn't be taking that option, at least in the near term.

Now, in our -- as for changing out long-haul, our obligation under the mainline settlement agreement is to maintain a certain amount of long-haul till 2020.

And so there isn't an immediate desire or even ability to swap out at Iroquois for the long-haul.

So, you know, the 40 is something for another day.  We don't really have any intentions at this time of taking that option.  We have it there as an option.  And certainly if we went down that road and were considering that 40,000 and we wanted pre-approval, I would think then a comparison maybe to Iroquois at that time might be appropriate, but I don't think it is at this point.

The Nexus contract is bringing gas to Dawn, which we need to put into storage, and it's really replacing a certain amount of gas that we now buy at Chicago.

So I don't think that this is necessarily relevant to this decision.

MR. QUINN:  Well, okay.  I want to walk back through that, hopefully in the right order.

First off, are you saying, if you were to want to exercise that option for the 40 TJs, you would be coming back to the Board for pre-approval of that opportunity?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think we would consider that at the time.  I don't -- I'm not saying for certain that that is something that we would come back for pre-approval.

But it would be available to us, I think, and we would have to demonstrate, once again, that it met the criteria and certainly would have to be heard if we decided to go there.  But I think we have either option available to us at this point.

MR. STEVENS:  But to be clear, Dwayne, Enbridge is not taking the position that approval of the PA in this case in any way imports some sort of blessing or tacit pre-approval of the next 40,000.

If Enbridge did that later without pre-approval, then it would be taking the risks that it takes in the rest of its contracting, where it contracts for certain transportation and then that later on gets reviewed as part of the gas supply plan.

MR. QUINN:  And, again, that's helpful to understand the specifics of what you're asking for pre-approval here.  My concern is the consequences -- and we talked about that again yesterday -- wherein, when the gas supply memorandum comes forward and when it is reviewed by the Board for approval, it doesn't seem to come to the Board for approval.  It is more a retrospective view, where the threshold is much higher for the prudency of a decision.

We're looking at this in totality because you're making a 15-year commitment, and you've got a time frame to 2020 not only with TransCanada but with Nexus, and we're trying to understand what the long-term view is for Enbridge, and that's why we see it as relevant.

MR. STEVENS:  In our view, the consideration is always whether transportation arrangement is prudent or not, whether that's being look at for preapproval or whether that is being looked at afterwards.  I mean, there is the question of the inappropriateness of applying hindsight, but the prudence test applies in either circumstance.

I think, as Jamie has explained, Enbridge doesn't see this possible, but certainly not crystallized option to contract some years from now on a service that doesn't yet exist at Iroquois as something that is really in scope for this proceeding.  That's not what this particular supply is meant to cover off, the Nexus supply.

And it is really just not something -- we're going beyond the bounds of what is relevant, in our view to this proceeding.  So I hope we don't have to argue about that, but that is our position.

MR. QUINN:  I don't want to go there, David, in terms of argument, but you understand that this application has long-term implications, and next steps are important to us so that we end up having an understanding of, one, getting approval, which you have clarified, But, two, what the next steps could be and what is best for Ontario.  Does that make sense from a ratepayer perspective?

MR. STEVENS:  I think Enbridge completely understands that position.  In various spots within the evidence and particularly within the interrogatories, there's discussion of the residual options, discretion that's available within Enbridge's gas supply plan to accommodate different opportunities as they occur in future years.

And that would be done based on the information that is done now.  I think Jamie has explained there is not sufficient information now to look at Iroquois as an actual possibility.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess there is not enough information, and that's why I started with Jamie and his understanding of evolution instead of come at the 2017 new capacity open season he referenced.

Would it surprise you, Jamie, that another shipper has a service that originates out of Iroquois that has been committed to by TransCanada for 2017?

MR. LEBLANC:  No, it wouldn't surprise me.  I think you have to be careful, though, in order of magnitude.

I would just be -- you know, there's a difference -- and not to diminish at all other utilities in any way, but, you know, there is a difference between a few thousand gJs and getting into 40,000 gJs or 50,000 gJs a day.  And we just -- you know, we are interested in Iroquois, but we've made some decisions on how we're going to feed the EDA for the next few years, but certainly it's on our radar and something that is of interest to us in the future.  We just -- we're not ready for that point at this stage of the game.

MR. QUINN:  So you said differently" and this will be the last question in this area and then I will move on.  To the extent that Canada makes any announcement in the near future, possibly before this decision is made in this proceeding, if they were to come out with a decision from opening up the path from Waddington to Iroquois, would Enbridge provide flexibility in its portfolio it look at that receipt point as a benefit in terms of its overall portfolio?

MR. LEBLANC:  Well, we always maintain flexibility in our portfolio.  For EDA, unfortunately at this point, because of, you know, the all of the changes that have been going on, it's fairly locked up for the next few years, but certainly, as flexibility is -- you know, as some contracts start to roll off, we will look at all opportunities and evaluate whether or not to continue with a current service or look at others.

It's, you know, like when we decontracted off of Alliance in 2010.  That was part of the strategy around that decontracting.  It was to open up flexibility for new opportunities.  And we would certainly look at any and all opportunities as that flexibility comes up.  And we monitor and look at our supply plan on a regular basis and look at what opportunities are out there and continue to evaluate them, and certainly Iroquois would be on the radar.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Respectfully, I will defer further inquiry to your 2016 gas supply memo, which helpfully we will be seeing in the near future, but thank you for your answers on this area of questioning.

I want to turn to just another couple of questions, and then I will be finished.  If we could turn up -- and I think one of the places it was best answered is BOMA -- oh, sorry.  T3 EGDI -- oops.  It says T3, EGDI Union BOMA 35.  And that is in your package.  When I said "Union," I was concerned that I was looking at the wrong IR package, but...

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  I think the question was aimed at both of us, and that's why it is described that way perhaps.  At least that's how we answered it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I [audio interference] on references, so I thought maybe I had the wrong one.

BOMA was asking about the security of supply for Ontario.  Sorry, do you have that up, Jamie?

MR. LEBLANC:  I do, yes.

MR. QUINN:  I'm reading in your answer the confirmation that, for the purpose of the distribution system risk, this is, you know, one of the reasons you undertook Parkway West for GTA.  Would you extend that to transmission risk also?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, I would.  Segment A of our GTA project is, as you know, both a distribution and a transmission pipe, and once -- well, even for now, it does help our system, but once Kings North and then -- well, Kings North to begin with and then further expansions on TransCanada's system occur, you know, our pipe effectively becomes a loop of the TransCanada transmission line to Maple.  So, yes, certainly it's a transmission consideration as well.

MR. QUINN:  So the system reliability-type aspects that you brought forth in 2010-0231, I believe it was, your system reliability proceeding, this would have positive impacts on that system reliability concern that was expressed to the Board at that time?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think system reliability -- honestly, I wasn't around during that hearing, and I have only, you know, read some of it, but -- so I think I might -- would have to maybe go away on that unless Andrew here -- Andrew was around -- has anything more to say on that.  I'm not sure if system reliability was materially changed as a result of this or not.

MR. WELBURN:  Sorry, if we're referring to the system reliability proceeding that went on, it was more related to reliability of supply rather than actual transmission, per se, at that time.

When you had a look at, for example, the CD reports on TransCanada's mainline, the -- Enbridge was virtually the only one that had firm transportation contracts coming in to the distribution area, which is where our concerns were coming from, because if they weren't -- supply wasn't being delivered on firm transportation, it posed the question of how was that transportation getting delivered into the franchise.  So that was more the context of what we termed the system reliability at that time.

MR. QUINN:  But your concern, Andrew, was the ability to be relying on gas supply volumes hitting your franchise especially during winter peak times?

MR. WELBURN:  Correct.  Because of the fact that, if they're not using firm transportation, then presumably they would be using some form of interruptible transport.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  So irregardless of the integrity and reliability of the pipe, if the gas couldn't get through because it was on an interruptible basis, it doesn't help us.  Right?

MR. QUINN:  Well, I may not have helped my question by bringing up the system reliability.  The end goal of this is to ensure that all customers get gas on a peak day in January.  Is that correct?

MR. LEBLANC:  The end goal of this contract, actually, is to make sure that we have enough -- we procure reliable and diverse gas supplies on a cost-effective basis for our ratepayers.  So it's a little different than peak day.  It's really about supply.  It's not really about peak day.  It's about, I guess, average day, because -- and that's why we, in Board 7, we talk about average day and how -- how you had to look at our supply portfolio on an average day basis to understand the Nexus contract more so than on peak day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well I have kind of lost context for this badly, and it was my leading, so I will take responsibility for that.  But to be very clear about this, is one of the end goals of your supply portfolio to ensure gas arrives at your -- in your franchise at different locations, and that contributes to your overall system reliability?

MR. LEBLANC:  More globally, is one of our gas supply goals?  Yes.   Certainly, serving our customers when they need their gas is the ultimate -- you know, at a reasonable cost, is the ultimate goal of our gas supply planning.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I am going to ask this question and then -- with apologies, because I said it would be the last time and that I went and asked about Iroquois.

But would Iroquois -- a delivery point at Iroquois contribute to your system reliability with the end goal of all customers getting gas when they need it?

MR. LEBLANC:  I'm not sure.  I think I might have said yes already in the answer, but, you know, yes, just like Nexus being another path into Dawn and another way to get gas to where we need it.

Certainly Iroquois could be, in the future, once we're comfortable with the point and how gas will get there and then what kind of pricing it might see, yes.  Certainly it could be another way to increase -- enhance reliability for our system, sure.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate exploring this and we'll, I'm sure, have future discussion. I appreciate your answers today.

Those are my questions, Ian.  And, Colin, I will just stay on the line till the break and then I will be out of pocket the rest of the day.

I am actually going to -- if I may, I said it was my last question and I -- because Vince took some of my clock, can I ask just a couple of other questions of the panel?

MR. DE ROSE:  You can take my clock.  You can take my time.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am just trying to get back to an e-mail, here.  I'm wanting to ask the panel some questions about their understanding of this idea of Most Favoured Nations.  And as you have looked at in your negotiations, Jamie, the -- what other pipelines have done, what utilities, in terms of the Most Favoured Nation status?

MR. LEBLANC:  Sorry.  I didn't understand what the question -- your question, exactly, sorry?

MR. QUINN:  If you look at what other utilities have done with other pipelines in terms of establishing the Most Favoured Nation status, when you were looking at your opportunities in terms of negotiating with Nexus, did you look at what other utilities may have done with companies like Spectra, or potentially Kinder Morgan, to achieve pooling specifically of their volumes to reach Most Favoured Nation status?

MR. LEBLANC:  You mean sort of similar to what DTE has done, where they pooled two other entities?  I haven't looked at that specifically, but at least on Nexus the rules were, you could pool, but it had to be, you know, affiliates of the same entity that pooled their volumes.

I have not looked at that in relation to other entities.  To achieve Most Favoured Nation in, say, Rover and the ANR projects, the thresholds were higher and the terms were longer.

So we -- you know, that was part of the reason why we favoured Nexus over those opportunities, although they were difficult to get into, based on when they occurred and where we were with the Nexus project, but it certainly was sort of looked at as -- to see if they made any sense.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So to the extent that, as part of any decision going forward, the utilities were able to discuss with the Nexus project the ability to pool Union Gas and Enbridge volumes into Ontario to achieve that status, would that not result in a more favourable rate for Enbridge?

MR. LEBLANC:  The issue -- I think that would be a very broad -- you know, that would be them changing their rules, and I would hesitate to think -- I have no idea what they would do, but my own mind, if I were them, I would hesitate to go down that road because it is a bit of a slippery slope.  Well, who now can pool their volumes together to try to get anchor shipper status and Most Favoured Nations?  You know, can that utility from Ohio and this utility from Michigan and another utility from Ontario all pool their volumes together to get the 150?

I guess I just think that it is unlikely that they would go there.  It just seems like too broad of an idea.

But, I mean, anything is possible, but I would guess they wouldn't go there.

MR. QUINN:  Hypothetically, if they were to go there, you certainly see that is an advantage for Enbridge?

MR. LEBLANC:  Sure.  It is a 1.5 cent discount and, you know, more opportunities should someone else negotiate something different for us to take advantage of that opportunity.

So, yes, getting access to Most Favoured Nation without being an anchor ourselves would be a benefit to Enbridge, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Those are hopefully going to be the -- the questions will come up later on.  Colin, I will keep checking in.  We have a break this afternoon.  I am going to try to check in to see if I can have an opportunity to ask Mr. Stephens some questions.  If not, I will provide them to another party to ask questions of, if that is all right.

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  Thank you, Dwayne.  Currently we have Stephens scheduled for 3 p.m.  I am not sure if that will change, but that is where we are now.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well thank you again, panel, and thank you, Colin, for making these arrangements.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thanks, Dwayne.

Remarkably, we're just about on schedule for our morning break.  Does that sound like a good idea to everyone?  I am seeing nodding heads in approval.  Why don't we take --


MR. DE ROSE:  Colin, it is Vince.  Two quick things.  One, I am actually not going to have any questions for Summit this afternoon, so that might help with your timing planning.

MR. SCHUCH:  Okay.  Thanks, Vince.

MR. DE ROSE:  Secondly, my questions for Union are actually -- actually relate to the MFN issue that Dwayne was just dealing with.  I'll probably --


MR. SCHUCH:  For Enbridge?

MR. DE ROSE:  Sorry for Enbridge.  And so I would be about 10 to 15 minutes.  Would it make sense, since that is the topic that we were dealing with, that I just sort of follow up?

MR. SCHUCH:  Right now?

MR. DE ROSE:  No.  Sorry, after the break, if no one else is in a rush to go ahead of me, I could just -- I think it would just sort of, from a continuity perspective, make some sense.

MR. SCHUCH:  Sounds like a good plan.  I'm seeing nodding heads in approval.

MR. DE ROSE:  Perfect.

MR. SCHUCH:  Then we will start with you after the break.  I think we will take 15 minutes, so we will reconvene at 10:55 a.m.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:40 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:00 a.m.

MR. SCHUCH:  Hello, it's Colin.

MR. DE ROSE:  Hi, Colin.

MR. SCHUCH:  Doing a check-in to see who is on the line.  Vince, I hear you.  Anybody else online?  Hearing nothing.  I propose that we start.

MR. DE ROSE:  Perfect.  Thank you, panel.
Examination by Mr. De Rose:

MR. DE ROSE:  So I wanted to start by asking some questions about the MFN clause.  And it's building in part what Mr. Quinn was speaking about.

First of all, if you were to increase your contract from the 110,000 dekatherms up to the 150 dekatherms, as I understand it, you would be entitled to MFN protection or the MFN clause.  Correct?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think the most favoured nations -- so I think it is a little bit more complicated than that.  We have the option to go to 150.  If we go to 150 before the in-service date of the pipe, we get most favoured nations treatment.  If we go after the pipe has commenced service, we do not is, I believe -- we can probably find the reference, but I believe that's how it's written, because it was a bit more complicated for them to give us most favoured nations after the fact.

MR. DE ROSE:  Fair enough.  So I'm just dealing with the situation, then, if it's before in-service.  I just want to make sure I understand.  In terms of the most favoured nations clause, if it were to apply to you, would you -- from your perspective, would you, then, be entitled to the same rate that Union has received?

MR. LEBLANC:  It would be related to the greenfield portion.  So Union's current greenfield portion rate is 63.5 cents; ours is 65.  If we moved to the most favoured nations -- if we were to gain access to the most favoured nations and became -- actually, I'm not sure -- yes, I guess in either way.  If we became an anchor shipper, we become -- we get access to the most favoured nations.  But in any circumstance that we gained access to most

Favoured nations, we would get the most favourable rate of the 63.5 cents for the greenfield versus what we have today, which is the 65.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.  But do I understand it right that the -- in terms of most favoured nations, it would be to a similar anchor shipper, which would be Union?

MR. STEVENS:  It's David Stevens.

If you look at pages 7 and 8 of appendix D, Vince --


MR. DE ROSE:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  -- maybe even starting at page 6, there is discussion of the option to change to 150,000 dekatherms.  And as I read it very briefly, it appears to me that the change in rate is specifically called out to be equivalent to Union Gas.

MR. DE ROSE:  Right.  And I guess what I'm -- well, thank you for that, Dave.  What I was actually confirming is that you and Union would then be pegged in a sense.  You would have the same rate as Union.  That's really what the MFN comes down to.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  And now that David pointed that out, that was, you know, I thought was an important point, and when we negotiated the agreement -- and I just had forgotten about it at this time as we made -- we thought it made sense, you know, from an Ontario and a regulatory point of view, that we should get the same rate.  It wouldn't make sense that we ended up at some different rate, and that's why it says Union's rate specifically rather than some other rate.

MR. DE ROSE:  And so just to be clear, the MFN clause would not then apply to other anchor shippers on the Nexus pipeline.  It really is a -- it is a tying of your rate to the preferential rate that is being given to Union?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think if someone else has most favoured nations, so DTE -- well, you know, I don't know the terms of those other agreements, so I really can't speak to them really.  I mean, the terms of their agreements are different than ours, so their most favoured nations could be completely different as well, so I'm not really certain.

MR. DE ROSE:  Yours is tied to Union.  It's not tied to DTE or any other...

MR. LEBLANC:  That's correct.  Yes.  If we elect, our rate is tied to Union's rate, correct.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the Board approval that you are seeking currently, if the Board approves your application as filed, is it your view that that that approval would then allow you to increase your volumes to become an anchor shipper before the pipe is in service, or would you have to come back to the Board if you wanted to make that adjustment?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think approval as filed would give us preapproval for the cost consequences of a contract of 110,000.  I don't think we would necessarily have to come back to the Board to move up to the 150.  However, the preapproval protection from cost consequences of this approval would not have any relation to that additional 40,000.  So we would either have to come back to get preapproval if we wanted that, or we would, you know, be taking the risk the same way we take the risk with a normal contract.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.  And so that extra 40,000 dekatherms is not subject to the Board's preapproval?

MR. LEBLANC:  Not at this time.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  We have not asked for it.

MR. DE ROSE:  Fair enough.  I appreciate that.

Now, in terms of the benefits if you were to become an anchor shipper -- I just want to make sure -- one benefit would be the -- when I read your evidence, I took it that there were two benefits identified.  One is that you would get access to MFN and, secondly, that you would obtain a lower rate.  Is that fair?

MR. LEBLANC:  That's fair.

MR. DE ROSE:  And I think, as we've just talked, about really the MFN and the lower rate is actually one in the same.  I think it is just one benefit.  You would get the lower rate, the same thing as Union.

MR. LEBLANC:  I think MFN can be broader than that.  So if someone of similar -- I can't remember the exact words, but it says something to the effect:   If someone of similar -- I don't know if it's similar size, but of similar circumstances obtains a more favourable term of their agreement, that Nexus must provide us with the details of that, and we have the opportunity to take advantage of that.  So most favoured nations is broader than that, broader than just rate.

MR. DE ROSE:  Are you aware of any potential party that could be an anchor shipper, other than Union, that would be in similar size and quantity and quality of contract?

MR. LEBLANC:  I guess the DTE folks as a whole would be a similar one.  We're not aware of the other agreements, and I only know some of what's in DTE's.  But it's the pipeline's obligation under, I believe, under the MFN to bring to us these things and give us the opportunity to take them or not.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.  Now, in terms of yesterday -- and I am switching gears a little bit, but yesterday we were talking about the risks.  I talked with Union, and I assume that you were following.   We were talking about these risks to the shareholder, and what Union agreed was that the risk to the shareholder would be that they would enter into a long-term contract and then have a disallowance of costs.

Do you view that to be the shareholder risk to not receiving preapproval?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.

MR. DE ROSE:  Are there any other shareholder risks that you see with not receiving shareholder approval?

MR. LEBLANC:  Not off the top of my head.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I couldn't think of any.

MR. LEBLANC:  No.

MR. DE ROSE:  And then the other question that I spoke to Union about was trying to quantify what that shareholder risk, and we -- I asked Union whether they were aware of any long-term contracts ever being disallowed, and the only example that the group could identify was the Alliance Vector contract that Enbridge entered into.  And I'm sorry, I don't have the years, but I bet it was close to a decade ago, or more.

Are you familiar with that?

MR. LEBLANC:  At a high level, yes.  Around 2002-ish we entered into a contract and approximately $11 million was disallowed.

I think that -- I get where your point is leading.  I guess what I would say back, though, is, you know -- and I think I already mentioned it this morning.  The utility doesn't benefit from the gas supply.  And, you know, it passes its costs on directly to the ratepayers.  There is no -- there's nothing in it in terms of benefit for the utility.

And the benefit is to the ratepayers.  And I think, therefore, the risks involved should also be the ratepayers, or that is what pre-approval we're looking for from the pre-approval.

And like I said earlier, we believe we've negotiated an agreement and we've looked at the angles and believe that the risks are sufficiently low for ratepayers to make this a good deal but, ultimately, those who benefit from the deal, I think, should bear the risk.  That's our view.

And, I mean, yes, the only example we can think of was the Alliance situation, but with contracts, however unlikely, anything could happen.  And I think shareholders shouldn't have to bear that risk because of the situation around gas supply.

MR. DE ROSE:  Okay.  Well, I am just trying to understand the risks at the moment.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.

MR. DE ROSE:  And I think you answered one of my questions, was:  Could you think of any other examples, other than Alliance Vector?  And I think you said you guys couldn't, either.

MR. LEBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. DE ROSE:  And you said that it was an $11 million disallowance?

MR. LEBLANC:  Correct.

MR. DE ROSE:  Do you know what the total amount that Enbridge was seeking recovery of?

MR. LEBLANC:  I do not.  We would have to go back and -- well, seeking recovery of?  We weren't seeking pre‑approval on Alliance.  So if you mean what was the total value of the contract, I don't know.  But we could, you know, seek that out, if that was of interest.

MR. DE ROSE:  That would be appreciated.  And what I am really looking for is that it was an $11 million disallowance, but it was an $11 million on, what?  Was it $11 million on, for instance, $110 million, so it is 10 percent?  Or was it an $11 million disallowance on $20 million?  Sort of what was just the big picture number that was at issue?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  I won't guarantee it, but we may even be able to find that at the break and be able to come back after lunch with that answer.  If not, we will take it as an undertaking.

MR. SCHUCH:  Are we good with an undertaking?  Why not assign a number?

MR. STEVENS:  I think -- why don't we accept an undertaking for this, Vince.  And if we provide the answer on the record, then the undertaking will go away.

MR. DE ROSE:  Thanks, Dave, I appreciate it.

MR. SCHUCH:  We will assign JT2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.2:  ENBRIDGE to explain the disallowance

MR. STEVENS:  Two point?

MR. SCHUCH:  Two.

MR. DE ROSE:  And those are all my questions.  Thank you very much, panel, and thank you very much, Mr. Stevens, for cooperating.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Vince.

I am wondering if either APPrO or BOMA is happy to proceed next, either one.  I'm not sure if BOMA is on the line.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I'm here.  I think APPrO is the first listed on there.

MR. SCHUCH:  John, are you happy to go?

MR. WOLNIK:  I'm happy to go next.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.

MR. WOLNIK:  Good morning, panel.  John Wolnik, with APPrO.  Can you hear me okay?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, thank you.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  I have a few questions.  I would like to start with some, sort of, overview questions first.

And perhaps what you could do is just provide me your general understanding of the status of the Nexus project.  We sort of talked a little bit with Union on that yesterday, but maybe you can give us your understanding of where Nexus sits today, in terms of the timing, the status of approvals, whether it is committed to go forward, or whether there are, sort of, conditions precedent that it needs to meet in order to proceed.

MR. LEBLANC:  My understanding is they are preparing to do their FERC filing in the fall.

Certainly within our contract there are conditions precedent that they have to meet, which is to receive all necessary approvals.  So, obviously, that's something that they have to do.

But they have indicated that they have sufficient interest at this time to move forward with the project and that they are on time with their -- I think the timeline is provided in the evidence.  I don't know if we can turn it up right off, but it -- I know their next major step is do a FERC approval, and they have indicated that they're on track to do that in November of this year.

Their timeline is at Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 13.  And I believe that this -- at this time that they are on track with that schedule.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you are comfortable that there won't be a delay, then, come November 17?  That it will be ready?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think there are always risks in these things of them not being ready.  They are confident, based on our discussions with them and what I have seen, that they can meet the November 1, 2017 date at this time.

But, you know, things can happen.  And, actually, that's part of, you know, one of the benefits that we have -- we have negotiated into the precedent agreement is some protections around that.

So I think we talked about yesterday how, if they choose their bona fide estimate of in-service and they're not in service within one year of that date, that, you know, the utility at least has the opportunity to walk away from the agreement.

We also negotiated some particulars in the agreement to protect, well, to protect from shorter delays.  So they have to tell us -- leading up to when they come on-line, they have to tell us when they're 90 days out.

So if they, say, chose November 1, 2017 as their in-service and 90 days before that they said, "We're not going to make it," they have to tell us that.  And that was negotiated to protect ratepayers, really, and being able to have time to go look for alternate supply, should we need it.

So we've done some things to protect ratepayers from delays, but all indications at this time are that they are on track for the November 1, 2017.

MR. WOLNIK:  I was going to ask you a question later on that very issue, but this may be the appropriate time to talk about that.

So, in the event that they do find that it is delayed, and it could be sort of a relatively last-minute -- you know, there's some repair work required for the pipeline itself.  In terms of, I guess, what would your contingency plans be to secure those, the necessary supplies for the winter of 2017-2018, I guess?

MR. LEBLANC:  Within the restructuring of the Vector contract in relation to the Nexus contract, we've got protections there.

So the way the proposal from Vector is written is, our contract gets restructured on November 1, or the point in time when the Nexus contract comes on-line.

So we would have -- and that's part of why we renegotiated, is we wanted that back-up plan around Vector.  And so we have Vector capacity from Jolliet or Chicago until such time as Nexus comes on.

So we would look to purchase gas at Chicago to replace any shortcomings.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, good.  Maybe we could sort of move to Rover.  And could you provide your kind of high-level understanding of -- actually, sorry, I had one more question on Nexus as a follow-up.

You had commented that you understood they had enough volumes to proceed.  Is that a formal condition in the agreement?  And, if so, have they waived that?

MR. LEBLANC:  I would have to look.  So, pipeline conditions precedent are on -- I'm going to refer to appendix F.  I hope that doesn't -- I know appendix D also has a version of the contract, but appendix F has sort of the last contract plus the last amendment layered into it.  So appendix F, page 21 lists the pipeline conditions precedent.

So they have an obligation to file with the FERC.  They have an obligation to get those authorizations by May 1 of 2017.  They have an obligation to find financing by May of 2017, or a condition precedent, sorry not an obligation.  They have a condition precedent around any other pipelines needing approvals by that same date of May of 2017.

And there's a series of other -- CPs here.  I don't believe there's one on volume, in particular.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So that's not an issue, then, getting -- securing sufficient volume to proceed, then, isn't an issue for them?

MR. LEBLANC:  I would think it would be.  They -- there are some general terms around termination that they have, and I don't know if that would allow them to step out of it or not.  I'm not -- I think we would have to maybe dig around a little bit to confirm that.  I don't -- unless -- I'm not sure.  I would think they could walk away if they didn't have the right volumes.  I can't imagine that they wouldn't.  I just can't point you to the specific term at this time.

MR. WOLNIK:  I wonder if it would be worthwhile just to have you confirm that.

MR. LEBLANC:  That they can walk away if they don't get the volumes?  I mean, I'm virtually certain they could, but to find the particular term of the agreement would take us just -- maybe we could do that --


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Well, if you find out anything different, perhaps you could let us know, then, after the break.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  So if they don't have the opportunity to walk away, we will let you know.  Otherwise, you can assume that they do have that opportunity.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So maybe we can talk just kind of briefly about Rover for a little bit, and perhaps you could provide kind of an overview of your knowledge of Rover.

And I understand from our discussion yesterday with Union that they've also have enough commitment to proceed, and that's a producer-supported pipeline.  So I'm assuming that Enbridge would be a desirable market for producers.  So I presume you've talked to some of those prospective shippers on Rover and you probably are familiar with it, so I wonder if you could provide us your understanding of Rover, the status, and what they're offering.

MR. LEBLANC:  Actually, I'm not as familiar with Rover's current status.   We -- at the time Rover came around and the opportunity was available to us, we had already signed a precedent agreement with Nexus.  So we did -- you know, we did meet with Rover and talk about the terms of their agreement, but it wasn't really available to us, and we haven't followed it that closely since.

But my understanding is that there's been nothing indicated as to they're not going forward.  I can say the opposite for the ANR one that we mentioned in our evidence as well, that we did see -- I think it was in late January -- that they had put that project on hold.  I have not seen anything like that for Rover.  So as far as I know, Rover is still moving forward for its in-service dates.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And are you able to tell us who the shippers on Rover are?

MR. LEBLANC:  I mean, I don't know for sure, and I would have to, you know, maybe go back and take a look at what intelligence we might have, but I don't know for sure who the shippers are on or what volumes.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  In a response to APPrO, Sussex indicated that on Nexus there were three producer shippers, Chesapeake, CNX and Noble.  Do you know if either or any of those three are shippers on Rover?  I mean, to the extent that you have talked to them and it's not confidential, do you believe any of those three are shippers?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't.  So, I mean, that topic, I guess, hasn't come up in our conversations.  I don't know if they're shippers on Rover as well.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.  I will move on, then.

MR. SCHUCH:  Before you leave Rover, Board Staff has a question on Rover --


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  Absolutely.  Sure.

MR. SCHUCH:  -- and maybe now is a good time --


MR. WOLNIK:  You bet

MR. SCHUCH:  -- to get the question in if others don't mind.

I was wondering if you could turn up the Nexus analysis memo that is attached to FRPO 4, which is topic 1, so it would be Exhibit IT1, EGDI I.FRPO.4, attachment 2.  So this is a memo to Ms. Malini Giridhar, dated August 18, 2014.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, I know what memo you are...

MR. SCHUCH:  So this memo in August has a recommendation to not contract on Nexus, but this was after Rover went out for the open season.  So my question is:  Could Enbridge have switched to Rover at this time with no cost?

MR. LEBLANC:  So I think it's under section 9 of the precedent agreement.  You don't have to turn it up.  I can tell you sort of what it says.

It basically says that, if there's a termination because of not being able to meet a condition precedent, which is what occurred -- so we told Nexus, "We're not able to recommend or gain internal approvals of this contract."  And so the immediate obligation there is for us to meet and to -- with due diligence and work together to try to renegotiate a contract that can work for both sides.  So we had that obligation to work with them, and we did that.

Now, I believe, and I have to confirm, but I believe, by that time, Rover was sold out, but even so, we had an obligation to negotiate with Nexus a -- or to renegotiate and see if we could come to terms.  I think we actually did a pretty good job, and I would actually talk to that a little bit more.

Like, so the written response in FRPO 4, you know, it touches on the factors of why we didn't move forward, and, you know, we were, at the time, a little concerned about supply at Kensington.  We didn't have a clear picture then.  We didn't know -- really two things happened, at the end of the day:  A bunch of projects come out of the woods, which gave us cause to pause, and the Niagara supply was becoming more and more of an issue for us.  We had intentions of filling that Niagara supply with a combination of both base load and seasonal loads.  We were having trouble getting that.  And so the combination of those two things led us to say, you know, this contract, at 150, is too much for us.  We've got to step away from it.  And so then what we did -- you know, we liked Nexus.  We thought it was a good opportunity, but it was just too much at 150.

So then we went back and renegotiated with Nexus and got more favourable terms.  You know, we reduced the volume.  We spent some time, and Sussex did some work for us to help us more clearly understand the supply there.  We negotiated to connect into Vector and use our own transport rather than a full path on Nexus and ultimately came to an agreement that we thought was the best agreement for ratepayers.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.  That is very helpful, and, thank you, John, for your indulgence.

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, you bet.

MR. DE ROSE:  John --


MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, sir,

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, it's Dwayne.  I had a few more minutes before we started our meeting so I was listening in.  Jamie -- do you mind, John, if I just ask one question?

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes.  No, go ahead.

MR. QUINN:  Jamie, you've talked about these challenges at Niagara, and I understand from experience that I've had that there are limited suppliers at Niagara.  Yet you have been contracting -- or have you been contracting, or do you have any contracts currently in place, at Niagara?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  We ultimately -- you know, the list was short and it got shorter as we sort of got to the fine strokes of getting supply.

It's actually why we also changed our -- renegotiated to change our contract with TransCanada, to allow the option of Chippewa or Niagara.  And between those two points, we've been able to -- we haven't completely finished our contracting but we have contracted for a fair at of it and we believe we will be able to contract for the whole 200,000.

But it was not an easy task.  What we found was most of that -- we talked yesterday about 1.4 PJs.  Most of that gas that is coming to the border also has transportation beyond the border.

So buying at Nexus -- or at Niagara, sorry, has been a challenge for us.

You know, there just aren't that many suppliers and folks, rightly so, wanted to contract on to a more liquid point like Dawn.

And so there have been challenges, certainly, getting the volume -- you know, 200,000 a day is not a small amount of gas, and there certainly have been challenges to get that gas and we've had to go with --


MR. QUINN:  But you've broken that up.  The 200,000, you didn't go in one fell swoop.  You broke that into multiple contracts, I presume?

MR. LEBLANC:  That's correct.  We signed three --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In that process -- sorry to cut you off, Jamie.  I only have limited time.  I am on John's clock, now.

But I just wanted to ask:  Are you able to provide any information from those suppliers about indicative pricing going forward at Niagara versus Dawn, Henry Hub, or AECo?  Did you receive any of that information in dealing with your suppliers?

MR. LEBLANC:  When you say "going forward," I have pricing -- so, we have negotiated basically two-year but really 22-month contracts with them.  So I certainly have indication of pricing for the next couple of years, but not beyond that, no.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can you provide the average price relative -- assuming a lot of it (sic) is on index, what the pricing is moving forward as an undertaking?

MR. LEBLANC:  So I can actually provide that directly.  For the contracts that we have signed to date, the average pricing is Dawn minus 46 cents Canadian per gJ.

MR. QUINN:  Minus 46 relative to where?

MR. LEBLANC:  Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  To Dawn.  So 46 cents left from Dawn.

Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  
Thanks, John.

MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, you're welcome.

I had one general question for Nexus, maybe just before we move on.  And Union, in their contracting with Nexus, is going to Willow Run and then on DTE to St. Clair, and then they're using their own facilities.   And that reminded me that your affiliate, Niagara Gas, has its link line that also goes through Michigan.

And I didn't know whether you had studied the potential to use those facilities to move some of these volumes.  And, if so, was there any advantage to using those facilities, rather than continuing on Vector all the way to Dawn?

MR. LEBLANC:  So we did consider that early on in the process in talking with Nexus.  The main issue, I guess, I would say is there's pipe in between us; ANR holds a piece of pipe in between us.  So we've perceived some difficulty in getting, sort of, the continuous path to get to that.  And it was seen as a fairly complicated option, and we ultimately set it aside early on in the process.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.

If we could go to APPrO number 2.  I think that would be T1.  APPrO number 2.  Just a couple of follow-up questions, there.

The question (a) talked about:

"Please provide Enbridge's understanding of the amount of net increase in capacity into the Dawn hub that will result from both Nexus and Rover."

And I wasn't sure that your response necessarily reflected the increase in capacity.

So I wasn't really interested in how much was being contracted by the parties, but I am trying to find out how much more gas will come in, or how much more capacity will be available to move gas into Dawn.

I want sure that this response answered that question.  Can you comment on that?

MR. LEBLANC:  So, in a brief discussion with Vector, actually, they indicated that, should all facilities go forward as planned, that there would be just the way the, I guess -- I don't understand this stuff, but the hydraulics would work with the new connections, it would allow for another 300,000 a day, approximately, to come in on the Vector path over and above what can flow today.

And I think that actually aligns with what Union had in their table.  So that sort of confirmed it a little bit for us, that that made some sense.

MR. WOLNIK:  So Vector isn't necessarily adding facilities.  Just with the gas coming in part-way down the pipeline.  Does that allow a more throughput, then, in that sort of a downstream portion of the Vector system?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't understand the Vector system that well.  I just know that they said that, as a result of what's being planned, there would be an extra 300,000 a day, and there were no major upgrades to their facilities required to create that.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And your capacity is not conditioned on anything on Vector than any facilities?

MR. LEBLANC:  No.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay, thanks.

MR. LEBLANC:  Well, I guess they will have to build the interconnect with Nexus.

MR. WOLNIK:  Sure.  Of course, yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.

MR. WOLNIK:  And in terms of -- so that is with Nexus and Rover.  Do you see any additional facilities -- sorry, any additional capacity that would result into Dawn if Rover got built, as you understand Rover?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think that 300,000 contemplates both Rover and Nexus being built.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Do you --


MR. LEBLANC:  But I don't know if one is -- if one or the other creates that 300,000.  Like, I don't know exactly how that one versus the other might affect the Vector pipe.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.

In one of the responses to a Union IR that we asked, Sussex provided the response in terms of who the shippers were on Nexus and included the three shippers that I mentioned earlier, Chesapeake, CNX, and Noble.

And I understand -- and I think that is part of your response here, too -- that they're contracting for some of that capacity all the way to Dawn.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. LEBLANC:  I can't confirm that specifically, but it makes a whole lot of sense because Nexus has contracted for 500,000 a day on Vector as a transportation by others contract, is what I understand.  And I don't think they would do that if they didn't have specific customers related to it.

So, yeah, based on what I see, I expect that some or all three of those have contracted into Dawn, but I can't confirm it 100 percent.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And of that 150, you would be 110 of that -- or 500, rather?

MR. LEBLANC:  Well, actually, it's 500, plus us, plus Union.  So the total -- and we were mixing around dekatherms and gJs there, yesterday, but the total that I understand coming to -- on Nexus to Dawn is 760,000 dekatherms, which is like 803 or 804,000 gJs a day.

MR. WOLNIK:  And if we make the assumption that it's producers or marketers, let's say, that contract for this additional capacity to Dawn, would you assume that those parties would profit maximize?

In other words, rather than sell 100 percent of that volume at Dawn, that they would seek the highest markets along the path and sell it to the highest-priced buyer?

MR. LEBLANC:  Absolutely.  Actually, it's a really good point that you bring up.

You know, capacity doesn't equal gas.

MR. WOLNIK:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  It's entirely possible, on both the Rover and the Nexus pipes, that those folks have contracted for that full path because Dawn is a liquid hub and an opportunity to get rid of gas.  But if they could make more money, like Rover, make more money dropping the gas off at Defiance and sending it to the Gulf, then we may never see the gas show up at Dawn, or some portion of.

So it is possible that -- just because there is capacity doesn't mean the gas will flow.  But having the connection allows for the opportunity to access those suppliers and access that alternative path.

MR. WOLNIK:  Good, thank you, that's helpful.

In the second part of APPrO 2, the response to (b), I guess the question really went to the additional capacity that would come into Dawn from Rover, and I think your response talks about 1.1 million dekatherms of capacity to the market zone, which I understand to be a fairly broad area that is -- that includes Dawn but also Panhandle and Vector.


Do you have any more information as to sort of what portion of that 1.1 million would just come to Dawn?  Is that encompassed in your -- the 300,000 expansion of Vector?

MR. LEBLANC:  I would have very little more information.  I understand, though, that that is the capacity that could flow to Dawn, so I believe there's -- the largest portion of that 1.1 million is Vector and there's also some on Panhandle that can get into Dawn, but, yes, it could get there.

MR. WOLNIK:  Again, subject to the shippers' profit maximizing, I guess.  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  Sure.


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.

If we can move to APPrO 3.  We had sort of asked a few questions about volatility.  I think you were highlighting volatility -- reduced volatility as one of the benefits of Nexus, and, presumably, that reduced volatility would be subject to these producers or these other shippers actually selling at Dawn, as we just talked about.

MR. LEBLANC:  Prices will always determine, I think, where the gas goes, but having the connection allows for, you know, for diversity at Dawn.  So if you can't get it from one source, there's another source at a price.  So I think just having the connection to other suppliers and other zones and other basins, in and of itself, will help to support liquidity and, therefore, less volatility at Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  All right.

Moving on to APPrO 4, you had talked about the costs of the transportation being recovered also from Western T service customers -- system gas and Western T service customers.  Can you just explain Western T service customers to me and why they would be paying for some of this, and who are Western T service customers?

MR. LEBLANC:  I will start, and Andrew, who is a little more familiar with this stuff, might add.  But Western T service customers are essentially direct purchase customers that choose to deliver gas to us at Empress, and then we move that gas to the franchise on our transport, and so those Western T shippers pay for what I would call sort of a blended cost of transport to move the gas to the market.  And so to the extent that Nexus forms a part of that blended cost of transportation, they would be exposed to some of the Nexus costs.  I hope I got that right.  Close enough.

[Laughter]


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.  So is it fair to assume that there's no contract, direct purchase customers in that group?

MR. LEBLANC:  No contract direct --


MR. WOLNIK:  Any of your contract customers.  Generally -- and I guess let me tell you where I'm headed.


Generally I represent the Rate 125 group and a couple of Rate 115s.  Would any of those be Western T service customers, to your knowledge?

MR. WELBURN:  The unbundled customers wouldn't be.  The nature of the unbundled is a service all in itself.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Right.

MR. WELBURN:  The 115 customers could be in there, because that's a bundled service still, so they could be included on a -- what we call a pool of customers that would be contracted as Western Transportation Service.

MR. WOLNIK:  The Rate 115 -- so would all 115 customers be in that category, or is there an option to be, I guess, in Ontario -- have an Ontario delivery point that would not pick up some of these costs?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes.  I guess it's important to distinguish between our standard rates that we have -- like a 100, 115, 145, all of those rates -- versus a direct purchase agreement.  You could be on a service rate with us, and you could be a system gas customer and procure your supply from Enbridge, or you can elect to enter into a direct purchase arrangement, either on your own behalf or with a third party.  But that would be, for lack of a better term, like a bolt on top of the rate that you signed up for.  So they're independent of each other, I guess --


MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.


MR. WELBURN:  -- if that helps.


MR. WOLNIK:  Thanks.  Yes.

And my last question is really on behalf of Schools Energy Coalition.  They couldn't be here, and they asked if I would ask this question on their behalf.


Union has provided additional information on their upstream transportation contracts, and they have asked me to ask you if you would provide a list of all of your upstream transportation contracts that you currently have in effect.  That would include the volumes, the expiry dates, and the receipt and delivery points, and they would be happy if you would do that by way of undertaking.

MR. LEBLANC:  So we actually have a list provided as -- it's Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 3, page 32 of 32.  Now, this list was current as of the timing of the filing of our gas supply memorandum sort of shortly after the stakeholder session.  So, yes -- well, it looks like actually -- it's mentioned right at the top.  It was filed November 28, 2014, but we are actually in the process of preparing our 2016 rate case and supply plan, and so we could provide you with that list in advance of that filing, just an updated list.  Now, the updates are mostly term as a result of the TransCanada term-up process, but we certainly could provide that as part of -- as an undertaking, sure.


MR. WOLNIK:  Great, thank you.

MR. SCHUCH:  We will assign undertaking  T2.3 to that.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.3:  Enbridge to update the list that's at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 3, page 32 of 32 of all its upstream transportation contracts that are currently in effect

MR. WOLNIK:  And that's it for me, Colin.


MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, John.  Tom Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, thanks.  Thanks, Colin.

Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, panel.  Tom Brett here.  I represent the Building Owners and Managers Association.


Most of my questions will just flow from our interrogatory responses, but I have just a couple of preliminary questions here that are either general/preliminary questions or things that I just picked up listening in the last half hour over or the last couple of hours.



The first is, on the MFN issue, do I have it right now that if you, under your contract -- forget about other people's contracts, but under your contract with Nexus, if Nexus offers a change, an advantage to any of their other customers -- and with the emphasis on "any" -- any of their other shippers, that they're obliged to bring that to you and offer it to you.  In other words, it's not just if they offered something to Union; it's if they offered something to any of their other shippers.  Is that right?

MR. LEBLANC:  It's not that -- so, first of all, because of our volume we're not -- we don't have most favoured nations.  So --


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. LEBLANC:  -- they have no obligation today.  But it's not that broad, even if we -- so if we were to elect to go to 150 before the commencement of service, we would gain access to most favoured nations and -- I'm just trying to flip to the -- it's not as broad as that.  There's....


MR. BRETT:  I was confused.  I thought there might have been two different versions floating around in the conversation.  In other words, what I heard once was, well, it's only if -- let's assume you get MFN status by going out.  I took your point -- I take your point there.  I forgot about that.



But if you become advantaged with MFN status, it's not just, as I understand it, if Nexus offered something to Union, that they have to come to you with it.  It's -- I thought that what was said was, if they offered an advantage to anyone else, other shippers, that they had to bring that to you.

Now you're saying it is not that broad?

MR. LEBLANC:  It says:  "In the event that the pipeline enters --" so this is the top of, if we look at appendix F, page 17, at the top, section (i), it says:

"In the event that Pipeline enters into or has entered into a firm transportation service and/or recourse negotiated or discounted rate agreements with other similarly situated customers --"

And in brackets they define that, or they attempt to start to define that, at least, as to transportation path, quantity, and length of term.  So similar customers, I guess, is what they're getting at.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  They have an obligation to offer us those more favourable terms within -- "Shall offer to the customer within 10 days of entering into that rate agreement" -- and then we have an opportunity to decide whether or not to accept them.

So it's not as broad as anything they offered to anybody, we would have the option.  It is narrower than that.

It's similar contracts -- sorry, in length and in volume, you know.

MR. BRETT:  Similar paths.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So that would be kind of a judgment call, to some extent, I guess.  But fair enough.

Now, just another one, on the ownership.  Would just remind me -- do you have an ownership position in Vector?  And what is that, if you do?  Enbridge Inc. I'm talking about, of course.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  Enbridge Inc. has an ownership in Vector.  And I'm going to, subject to check, say it is a 60 percent interest, but I need to -- we will try to confirm that.  But I believe that they have a 60 percent interest in the Vector pipeline.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, if you hear anything different perhaps you could advise, but that is fine.

And the parties to the contract -- this is another preliminary one.  Your contract is, I think like Union's, is signed with two different corporations, which are respectively subsidiaries of Spectra Energy and DTE Energy.  Correct?  In other words, it is a three-party contract, if you look at the preamble to it.

And my question to you is -- and I understand that, I think from the discussion yesterday, that DTE Energy and Spectra are sort of co-developers of the project.

Are you aware at this time of any agreement between the two, those two parties, the two subsidiaries, like a development agreement?  Have you seen anything like that?  A joint venture agreement?  Development agreement?

I mean, at the moment they contracted with you and with Enbridge as separate corporations.  So I -- but I am just wondering if they have any written agreement that you've seen.

MR. LEBLANC:  I have not seen an agreement.  I do believe -- and in the precedent agreement they do talk about forming the Nexus pipeline.  I can't remember the exact name of it.

MR. BRETT:  I think it is Transmission LLC.  Yes, you're right about that.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Have you had any indication of when they might form that?  Is that something that would happen post approvals from FERC and so on?  Do you have any notion of when that might be signed?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't know.  I'm not really familiar with the steps of the -- that they're going through.  I'm not sure when they would do that.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Okay.  And then on the Vector -- going back to Vector for a moment.

You were just -- you were discussing your, kind of, fallback plan with Mr. Wolnik, I believe.  And you mentioned that your contract with Vector that you've restructured -- your new contract or your revised contract with Vector will contain a provision that will allow you to get additional gas from Vector or, rather, move it through Vector, gas that you said you'd purchased at Chicago or if there were a delay in the Nexus completion.

Is it possible for you to give us a file, at least a section of that contract, that deals with that issue so we could see exactly how that would work?

MR. LEBLANC:  Just one second.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LEBLANC:  I would have to double-check that there is not a confidentiality issue, but I don't think there is an issue with that, so I think we could file -- so, there is no contract.

There's an offer to us.  I think we mention it in one of our IRs, that there's a proposal to restructure our contract that we need to either accept or not -- well, that is open to us until November 1.

So on or before -- or November 30, sorry -- on or before November 30 we have the opportunity to take advantage of that restructuring proposal to allow us to align our Vector with the Nexus contract.  And, yeah, I think we can provide you with the terms of how that would work.

But essentially it says the restructuring of the volume related to Nexus would occur at the later of November 1, 2017, or whenever the pipe comes into service.  But that's -- but I think we can provide you with the verbiage.

MR. BRETT:  That would be great if you could, yes.

MR. SCHUCH:  We will assign an undertaking JT2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.4:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE TERMS OF THE RESTRUCTURING PROPOSAL, TO ALLOW THEM TO ALIGN THE VECTOR CONTRACT WITH THE NEXUS CONTRACT

MR. BRETT:  And then one last question, general question, before going on to the IRs.  And the -- and this is kind of a very general question, but I don't know how to put it any better, really, at this stage.

When you -- you're contracting with Nexus -- and you may have answered this question, you may have answered it more than once, I don't know, but in contracting with Nexus, are you contracting for -- you're contracting for demands, obviously, that you would have starting, I guess, in November 1 of 2017.

Is there any -- is it meant to replace any particular other transport that you now have?  Or is it simply a kind of part of your secular growth, part of your general strategy to deal with growth?  And is it plugging a hole, I guess, if I can put it that way.

I mean I realize these two things sort of come to the same thing in the end, I guess, so I am a little hesitant with the question, but is there anything that triggers this?

MR. LEBLANC:  I am pleased to answer that.  Board Staff 7, page 4 of 4, we provide sort of a before and after pie chart.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  And what you can see is, this Nexus is meant to replace a portion of our Chicago supply coming on Vector.

So we are going to maintain the same volume capacity coming into Dawn on Vector.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  But part of -- today, all of that supply comes from Chicago.  It may come from behind Chicago, but it comes from there.

In the future, with Nexus in place, we would still have -- buy some gas at Chicago, and the rest we would fill with Nexus.  So we would be filling that greater 185,000-a-day, gJs-a-day, contract partly with Nexus and partly with Chicago in the future.

So it is replacing Chicago supply.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  That's helpful.  And I -- the supply you're buying at the Chicago hub.  That gas, as I understand it, could ultimately come from a number of sources?

In other words, it's not possible, really, to say that's not gas that comes necessarily from Western Canada or from Kansas or from further west or from the Gulf.  It could come in -- or I suppose -- well I suppose even Marcellus; well, I guess it wouldn't be that.

But it could come from a number of different basins, right?

MR. LEBLANC:  For sure.  It could even come from Marcellus.  You know, I believe there is a way -- with the reversal of their X pipeline, I believe at least -- and there may be others that I'm less familiar with, but the gas from Marcellus could get back and up into Chicago and come around the loop, so to speak.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  But, no, Chicago is connected to a number of different pipelines coming from all different directions.  So there's --


MR. BRETT:  And there is no -- there's no tag on the gas?  In other words, this isn't -- this isn't one-for-one reduction in WCB, WCSB gas?  It literally is just gas bought at the Chicago hub, but you know where it comes from?

MR. LEBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now if I could go over to 15, BOMA --

This would be Exhibit 1, T1, BOMA 15.  I have a few questions around this answer here.  Do you have that?

MR. LEBLANC:  I do, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So the first question here is:  When did you actually -- when did you sign the agreement for the gas at -- sorry, for the transportation on TransCanada?  When was that -- when did that start, the Niagara-Chippawa deal, if I can put it that way?  I'm just trying to get a sense of the historical context for this.

MR. LEBLANC:  As to when it was signed, I do know that.  It was May 29, 2014.  However, the Niagara capacity was part of -- was sort of wrapped up as part of the GTA and the Parkway West facility and application and that whole thing.  So we were looking at the possibility of this Niagara whenever we started to look at those -- that greater -- those greater projects, I believe, was in 2012, but I'm not sure exactly when.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So -- and that May 29, is that a contract that you signed with TransCanada essentially?

MR. LEBLANC:  It's a precedent agreement that we signed, so we have not signed a transportation agreement yet, but we've signed a precedent agreement with TransCanada leading to a transportation agreement, which will start --

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And that's your 200,000 gJs a day?

MR. LEBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And the -- and then -- when you did that, then did you make a decision at that point that you would -- let me go back a half step.

Did you -- there's been some talk here in the last day about, you know, purchasing gas in the field zone or as close to the source as possible versus purchasing gas at Dawn, et cetera, et cetera.  Did you attempt to buy gas further upstream than Niagara when you were -- as part of your effort, or did you all along think you were going to buy at Niagara?

MR. LEBLANC:  Our expectations certainly in the early days were to purchase the gas at Niagara.  We saw all the projects coming online, bringing gas to Niagara, and we believed that it wouldn't be possible to fill our 200,000 a day at Niagara.  Now we've -- and we have, actually, or we will fill it at Niagara.  However, you know, at the time we thought we wouldn't have a problem filling, and so we didn't contemplate at the time going upstream.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  In other words -- and the idea was, basically, what?  Why go upstream and why take additional -- the additional efforts and the additional -- I guess why take the risk of holding transportation on one or more of those projects, pipe projects coming north, when you could do it at Niagara?  Is that sort of a fair paraphrase?

MR. LEBLANC:  Not -- not exactly.  But we thought that the risk was acceptable; that we could get the gas at Niagara.  And we also, you know, in late 2012, had started talking to Nexus.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  And we saw -- you know, if you look at Nexus versus, you know, the pipes coming around and in through sort of the Nexus path versus the Niagara path --

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  -- we liked the idea of coming at the basin from two different directions and having that diversity.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  So --

MR. BRETT:  I understand that, yes.  Yes.  No, I understand that.  And, sorry, I just didn't mean to cut you off.  What I was really getting at was this question of, you know, the advantages and disadvantages of buying in the field, for want of a better word.  And I guess in the field means that some of those hubs, the hubs down in the Marcellus basin or the transfer points down there or at a gas plant or whatever, how do you see that -- I mean, the trade-off there is, what, versus buying at Niagara?  I mean, what's the advantage of doing one or the other?

MR. LEBLANC:  Well, probably not being exhaustive, but part of the advantage is diversity.  Actually in BOMA 16, we talk about the fact that, for instance, for western Canada, we buy gas both at Dawn and Chicago as well as back at Empress and on the Nova system and the CREC area as well as sort of a diversification strategy.  And one of the benefits, I think, are, you know, a trading hub is exposed to the risk of sort of the limitations of the pipes to get to it, whereas buying back at the basin may not be affected by -- you know, a constraint at, say, Dawn may not affect the price of the gas at the basin.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I see.

MR. LEBLANC:  So a constraint at Dawn that could cause Dawn to spike would be there's not enough pipe to get the gas to Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  But if you have the pipe all the way back to the basin, you don't have that issue.

MR. BRETT:  So, thank you.  That's helpful.


So you might mean, at least theoretically, if you were to purchase additional gas down the road -- I'm not saying you would or should -- but if you were to purchase additional gas from Marcellus -- let's say post-Nexus -- you might buy gas -- you could, as an option, buy gas down in the Marcellus and have that shipped north on capacity that you would hold on the U.S. pipe.  What you seem to be saying is you try to buy gas up and down the supply chain, I mean, to give you the broadest possible kind of range, eh?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  That's right.  Exactly.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

Now, then you talked a bit about the struggle that you had here.  I'm still on 15, and you did talk about that earlier on this morning, so I won't bow labour it hopefully.

My question really was:  Was part of the reason that you were -- and I think you have answered this -- but part of the reason that you were struggling was that you had a very peculiar kind of a delivery point.  You wanted that gas brought in to -- essentially to Parkway consumers.  Right?  To your system, not to Parkway or not to Kirkwall or Dawn.  You wanted it right at a particular point, a particular city gate at Enbridge as opposed to a hub.  Is that fair?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't think that's exactly entirely correct, because we own the -- or we have the -- not own it, but we have the contract for capacity from Niagara and Chippawa, so where we were looking for gas was at either Niagara or Chippawa.  And the issue that we have seen there is most of the folks that are coming have signed up for capacity to take gas away from those points as well on to Parkway or on to Kirkwall and back to Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah.  Okay.  Now, just on that point -- and I haven't -- I wasn't privy to some of the conversation yesterday morning with Union, but there's been a lot of talk about a large amount of gas -- I think up to 1.4 PJs -- that has now been confirmed as flowing into or it will flow into Ontario at Niagara.  Is that -- And I think there was a comment made yesterday by Union that, well, even if they wanted to buy more gas at Niagara, they couldn't right now because all of the pipelines, and I take it they meant the pipelines coming up to Niagara as well as TransCanada.  I think the phrase used was, "All of the pipes were at capacity."

So is that 1.4, is that all sort of contracted?  Like, do you have an understanding of what that is, where that's going, and where it's coming from?  Is that all from the Marcellus, for example?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think it's a combination of three pipes, and I think we actually have a map.

MR. BRETT:  Well, this would be Empire, Dominion, and the National Fuel Gas projects?

MR. LEBLANC:  So it is National Fuels, Empire, and Tennessee.

MR. BRETT:  Tennessee.  All right.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And so those are all -- when will those projects come to fruition? Are those all roughly for November 1, 2017?  Or somewhere, I guess, in service already, yes?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  Some of the gas is coming already.  I'm not familiar with the exact in-service dates of those.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  I'm not sure off-hand.

MR. BRETT:  That's fair enough.  I just was trying to get a ballpark.  And I can -- I will go back and look at some of that material, but I did see a graph that seemed to show that about 400 to 500,000 gJs a day was already coming through, coming west at Niagara.   Or north, I guess, if you...

MR. LEBLANC:  There certainly is some, because we have bought some from suppliers coming through Niagara already.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Now, in your -- you mentioned that you had been doing this contracting and -- excuse me I am just looking at my notes for a moment.  I wanted to -- I know you have had some other questions on this.

MR. SCHUCH:  Tom, while you are looking at your notes, it's Colin.  I did have a question on the Niagara --


MR. BRETT:  Yes, sure.

MR. SCHUCH:  -- that is very fast, hopefully.

MR. BRETT:  No, no, that's fine.  That's great.

MR. SCHUCH:  Maybe I could interject.  I was wondering if the witnesses are familiar with the Greater Golden Horseshoe Facilities project and its relationship with the Niagara import supply point?

MR. LEBLANC:  Not with the intimate details, maybe, but certainly familiar enough to say that the Greater Golden Horseshoe is the construction project that will bring our 200,000 a day to us.  So the Greater Golden Horseshoe includes the work that TransCanada needs to do to bring our 200,000 a day to us.

I think there are others on the -- on that project as well.  I'm not sure of the details of who --


MR. SCHUCH:  So it is not just a TransCanada facilities project?  There are other proponents --


MR. LEBLANC:  No, it is a TransCanada facilities project, but there are other shippers other than us.  Yes, underpinning the project.

So there are other volumes, I think, going to Kirkwall as well.  Not just us.

MR. SCHUCH:  So is it part of the 1.4 petajoules?

MR. LEBLANC:  My understanding is yes.

MR. SCHUCH:  But maybe not all of it?

MR. LEBLANC:  I believe it is all part of that.  But I can't confirm 100 percent.

MR. SCHUCH:  And would you know, other than Enbridge, who else may be contracting as part of that 1.4?

MR. LEBLANC:  I'm not familiar with the details of -- I mean, the folks coming to... yeah, I've had conversations with at least one supplier.

I kind of -- I don't know if I want to give -- I don't know if there is any confidentiality issue with it, but I just hesitate to give a name.  But there is a number of suppliers, certainly, coming to the border and beyond and coming to Dawn.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.  Tom, you may proceed if you wish.  Thank you, Tom.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, thank you.

Yeah, going still on 15, you talked about the contracting you've done and you say one contract applies only to the winter months.  No supply will be delivered during the summer months of April through October.

Now, that would mean, as I -- am I right in understanding that would mean that that gas wouldn't go to Dawn?  It would simply flow directly up into your franchise area?

MR. LEBLANC:  What that is talking about is, we wanted to have a substantial part of this capacity as seasonal supply.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  But we -- and we were unsuccessful in getting a substantial amount, but we did secure one seasonal contract as part of filling our 200,000, which will only flow in the winter months.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And that is, what, approximately like 25 percent of it?  Or 50 percent of it?  Or 10 percent of it?

MR. LEBLANC:  Whatever -- it's about 32,000 a day.  So 32,000 over 200,000.  Like Chris, I will hesitate to try to do the math.

MR. BRETT:  That's okay.  That's close enough.

And then the rest -- are the other three that you are doing going to be simply, like, same amount every day for a year?  Or I guess 100 percent load factor kind of style contract?  And then if that is the case, then would some of that then go into Dawn and be extracted from Dawn?  Is that fair?

MR. LEBLANC:  It's 100 percent load factor.  I believe we could move it to Dawn.  I guess it is a question of whether we move that gas to Dawn or we -- I think the intention has been to just flow that into the franchise.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  And move other gas to Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Yeah, okay.  I think I understand that now, that I think about it, think about sort of the geography of it.  And you're buying other gas at Dawn so... yeah.

Okay.  Now, you mentioned -- okay, let's look at 16.  I think I am okay with 16.  Just one passing question there:  The gas that you purchased at Niagara and have purchased, which of the pipes is that coming up on from down, from Marcellus?  Is it coming up on all three?  Or on one?  Or two?  Or do you know?  I guess you must know, because you would have to... you would be interested.

MR. LEBLANC:  I can tell you the split between Niagara and Chippewa.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  So -- approximate split.  So the Niagara is approximately, I believe, approximately 72,000 a day.  Or maybe -- no, I think it is 75 or 76,000 a day.  Something in that order.  And the remainder, whatever 125‑ish number, is Chippewa, if that helps.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, yeah.  And when does Chippewa -- is Chippewa okay, is it in service now going west or coming into Canada?  Or when is it expected to be finished?  They were doing some work there, as I recall, as part of the Golden Gate, or whatever they call that, TransCanada approval.

Is it up and running now as an import point?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yeah.  It does form part of the Greater Golden Horseshoe Project, as I understand it.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't believe it is up and running at this point, but they -- you know.

MR. BRETT:  But soon, I guess?

MR. LEBLANC:  I believe the target in-service date was November 1 of this year.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  We have supplies that will hopefully start flowing on it January 1 of this year.

MR. BRETT:  Oh, I see.  Okay, that's a question I didn't ask but I should have.

So you're starting to flow -- so will you flow your whole 200 starting -- I mean not all through Chippewa, but is the intent to flow your 200 starting January 1, 2016?

MR. LEBLANC:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And 17 -- oh, yeah, okay.  17 is the direct purchase issue.  And I think we're not going to get into it.  I don't -- I think that will take that as written.

The only question I have is:  You mentioned here that Enbridge expects to begin this process in 2016.  That's the second paragraph of the response.  Do you happen to know when?  Or that may be somebody else doing that, but I guess you guys are involved in that, yes?

MR. LEBLANC:  We haven't determined exactly when yet.  The problem tends to be horsepower.  There is only so many of us and -- we do hope to get to it in 2016, but we haven't quite determined when that would take place, at this point.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I'm getting echo back, but I take it you can hear me all right?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, I can hear you fine.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  All right.

Well, moving right along.  I would like to move to BOMA 19, here.  Just a second, here.  Yeah, I think it is 19.  Let me just...

The problem is reading my own writing, here.  Okay.  That, I think we've dealt with.  I don't think that's the one.

Yes.  There's a -- I want to ask you a little bit about just some material on the landed cost analysis and bear with me here.  This is a little bit -- I just wanted to compare -- really it's just comparing information from different sources and different parts of your evidence and make sure I understand what I'm looking at here.

At Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 24, you have a table there, landed Cost Analysis Summary, and you have TransCanada from Niagara at 4.52.  Now, that represents -- that represents, essentially, the Niagara option.  Is that the cost to your franchise area, basically, or is that the cost to Dawn?  There was some discussion in one of your IR responses, I think, not necessarily to me either to Board Staff or TransCanada, about the need to factor Dawn in, in certain instances, and I don't want to confuse the two issues.  I think there's -- I think they're related, but I think they're separate.  So I'm just trying to assess the -- this 4.52.

Let me just maybe give you another slice of that to make it easier.  So that's one number.  Then I'm going to sound like Dr. Higgin here, but there is another -- if I turn over to Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1 appendix C, that is your updated evidence on landed cost analysis.  And if I look under 2017, the left column, I see TCPL from Niagara, $4.13.

So the first question I'm asking is:  What's the reconciliation of those two numbers?  Is the updated evidence one that's August 25, is that the a restatement, essentially, of the 4.52?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes.  So, I guess there, were a number of questions in there.  To answer your first question in regards to table 2 that's on page 24 --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. WELBURN:  -- all of the landed costs there are relative to Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. WELBURN:  We did do some landed cost analysis to other points in our system, but they're included in other interrogatory responses.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  There was a FRPO question to you about giving you a landed cost for the various sources to -- to what?  To consumer Parkdale or to Parkdale?

MR. WELBURN:  We did do one that went to Parkway also.  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And you used that as, I guess, a proxy for your -- basically for one going to -- well, you have a delivery point at Parkdale or a receipt point at Parkdale, eh?

So, yes, you did that, and is that -- now, what does that -- I remember that response.  Is that the 4.13, or is that -- or am I mixing apples and oranges here?

MR. WELBURN:  Well, it might be a bit of apples and oranges.  In the evidence that we filed, everything is relative to

Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. WELBURN:  The only place where landed cost analyses were done to a location in our system, other than Dawn, are in the interrogatory responses.

MR. BRETT:  And that was to which one?  Do you recall?  Wait a minute.  I think I have those notes on that.  That was a FRPO 13.  Right?

MR. WELBURN:  Yes.  I had to do a few of them, and We can pull them up if you'd like.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  I think we did it to Parkway.  I think we did to CDA and EDA as well, I believe.

MR. WELBURN:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, if you could advise me perhaps just -- well, no.  Look, I can find it.  I will just search through here this afternoon and find it.

Okay.  Then the 13, going back to my reference to your updated evidence, appendix C, May 20, 2015, so what you just said is that is also a Dawn comparison?

MR. LEBLANC:  Just before we move on, we did find that Staff 5 is the CDA and EDA landed cost analysis.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Okay.

Now -- okay.  And the appendix C number, the 4.13?  What does that represent?

MR. WELBURN:  So I think that might be -- sorry, I don't have the original table.

MR. LEBLANC:  I do.  Actually I saw 4.13, but it was the 2017 number only for Niagara in the original evidence.  So in the original appendix C, Niagara was 4.13 for 2017, which maybe is what you're referring to.  But the landed cost number for Niagara in the original evidence was $4.90, which is the other end of the table, the average.  I don't know if that's the 4.13 you're referring to, but I did see that one.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Those numbers are ringing bells with me, but this 4.13 is on a table which is listed -- stated to be updated 2015-0825.

MR. STEVENS:  So, Tom, if you look at Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 24, the numbers that are included there are the average landed cost.  They're not any particular year.  They're the average of the 15 years.   And then if you flip to the chart at appendix C, you will see that average on the far right side.

MR. BRETT:  Oh, yes.  Okay.  All right.

MR. STEVENS:  So the number you're referring to is simply the 2017 number for Niagara --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  -- which is lower than the average over the full 15 years.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, yes.  Okay.  That's helpful.

Now then the -- could you just explain to me, you have -- let's see if I can see exactly where this was said.  It wasn't in one of my IRs.  It was one of the others.  But when you -- let's just go back to anchor this thing a bit to the table on page 24 of the evidence and your statement that everything is done with respect to Dawn.  What's the practical effect of that?  I'm not, you know, a great rates expert here, but does that mean that you would -- when you are doing -- I mean, I know how the landed cost is assembled basically.  So if you were going into Dawn you would factor into that landed cost the cost, as I understand it, of moving gas.  The way you put it I think in the response was moving gas -- let me take it in two steps.

If I were doing it in a very simple way, I would say, "Okay.  If you're talking about Dawn, that means I have to put into my landed cost the cost of getting the gas to Dawn from Niagara, so that means I have to put in a Kirkwall-Dawn toll."  Is that right?  Is that the difference?

In other words, if I weren't doing it to Dawn, if I were doing the landed cost to Parkway, I wouldn't have any -- I wouldn't have any Kirkwall-to Dawn-tariff in there, I would simply have a -- I would have Kirkwall to Parkway.

MR. WELBURN:  That's correct, depending on the path that you are actually transporting the gas to and where the gas is being procured from.

MR. BRETT:  Let's say Niagara.  Let's say it is coming from Niagara.

MR. WELBURN:  So if we were doing a Niagara -- for the Niagara path, then, for the Dawn path -- for the comparison at Dawn, we would -- the landed cost analysis looked at the costs to go from Niagara to Kirkwall and then Kirkwall down to Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. WELBURN:  When we did it for the CDA path, we just took a straight Niagara to the CDA or Niagara to the EDA.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And at one point, you also spoke of having to take -- and this is the -- you spoke of taking the cost of redelivery from Dawn out to Parkway.

In other words, I think what you were trying to say, and you were saying was that, look, if you're going to compare -- if you're going to compare the two as apples to apples, you can't just sort of assume that all of the gas can go direct, although I guess you can make that assumption in one of your cases, but you should also, for fairness -- at a certain point, you're going to have to ship some of the gas to Dawn and store it and bring it out again.  Does that come into your analysis when you --


MR. WELBURN:  Sorry.  So the analysis that we did at Dawn, that wouldn't be a factor, because all the transport is going to Dawn.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. WELBURN:  What needs to be injected into storage or then delivered up to the market, that would be --


MR. BRETT:  Right.  It wouldn't be a factor in that one, but in the comparison you were doing for, say, Parkway, the landed cost at Parkway, would you include a Dawn -- would you include Dawn withdrawal charges?

MR. WELBURN:  No.  When we did the --


MR. BRETT:  That's what I'm kind of circling around.  How do you avoid, like, double-counting?  How do you do that fairly?  What do you do in that case?

MR. WELBURN:  So what we did in those cases, to keep the analysis simple and without getting overly complicated, we did the analysis that would basically go right from the supply basin to the delivery point that we're talking about.

So whether it was Enbridge CDA or the Enbridge EDA, it would be straight there.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. WELBURN:  As far as what needs to be done in relation to balancing seasonal demands, that's not factored into the cost analysis.

MR. BRETT:  You did make the comment -- you did make the comment, though, didn't you, at one point, well we're not going to actually put those in the numbers.

I think you made a statement that, you know, if one were doing a thorough, fuller analysis, you should factor in something for that.  Is that -- am I recalling that correctly?

MR. LEBLANC:  Well, I think what led to that discussion was, there was a question as to whether Dawn was the appropriate place to assess the landed cost, and --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  -- we explained Dawn is the right place, because we're replacing gas that was coming to Dawn, and that's where we need it in order to be able to inject.

If you move to Parkway or CDA landed cost, what the intention -- I think we talked about it in Board Staff 5, but the intention of some of that discussion was to point out that we can't always take the gas at Parkway or CDA if the demand isn't there.

So to do an analysis, we did do the analysis strictly at Parkway or CDA or EDA, in whichever case.  However, we wanted to --


MR. BRETT:  Assuming the demand was there?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yeah.  We wanted to caution folks that that's not necessarily operationally possible.  If we have too much gas at Parkway we've got to take it somewhere else.

Whereas with the Dawn point -- which is, we believe, the most valid one for this analysis --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  -- you know, we're just pushing that gas into storage.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  Or carrying it on to the franchise.

MR. BRETT:  I guess -- sorry.  Yeah, you're making, I guess, an -- there are assumptions built in there.  I guess, I mean, in the one case we talked about a little while ago where you said, you know, your hope was to move all of that 200,000.

And I admit here we're doing this retrospectively; this is more just illustrative than anything else.  But in the case where you were doing the 200,000 straight out of your franchise, then it would be appropriate to make a comparison without taking into account the storage factor, would it not?  But that's a rather -- I mean that's a singular case, I guess, is what I'm saying.

MR. WELBURN:  Sorry.  So in order to take into account the seasonality and the need to inject some gas into storage, the landed cost analysis would have to look at more than just what is the average cost to get a molecule from point A to point B.

In order to do what you're talking about, or what we were referring, to would be a much more detailed analysis that would have to look at what went on for the whole duration of the period that we're looking at the landed cost.  In this case, we're going out to 2032.

And we just don't have the ability to do that easily, because that would require a lot more detailed information to do a full analysis out to that point.

MR. BRETT:  I think I get that now.  I think -- let me just go on.  There is only one more question here, and I have taken quite a bit of time, so I -- there was an interrogatory; I believe it was BOMA 35.  Let's see if I can find this easily.  You can probably turn it up there.  I might have to just see exactly where the -- which one it is.  I think it was one that -- this was a question -- yeah, I'm sorry, it is BOMA 30.

And I raise it because I don't think I phrased the question properly.  You know, we're making some -- you were making some distinctions, and there are distinctions between -- we're talking about diversification.

So you have talked about diversification in supply basin and you talked about diversification in path, which I understand to be diversification in pipeline path transport.

And then you've talked about diversification in the points at which you bring gas into your system.  So there are at least three forms of diversification.

And so my question here, the intent of this question 30, was to essentially ask whether there's a risk of overreliance on Dawn.  In other words, you have -- the gas you buy in Chicago, you bring in to Dawn.  The gas you are going to buy at Nexus, you bring into Dawn.  Some of the gas you used to buy or buy in the western system, you may bring into Dawn through Great Lakes.

And so my question was trying to get at, what happens if there is a major -- is there a risk associated with an overreliance on Dawn?  I mean, it's sort of the flip side of the business of Dawn is a wonderful hub and we should do everything possible to keep it that way or enhance its liquidity.

What if there were a massive failure at Dawn, a fire which, say, took out the yard or a good piece of it?  Is there a risk that you could be too reliant on Dawn, for that reason?

I mean there is a concentration of gas coming through there that seems to me very large, relative to other places where you get your gas, unlike the situation say a few year ago where you were getting a lot from the west.

MR. LEBLANC:  So there are a couple of things to maybe talk about, there.

So from a supply point of view, if you look at Board Staff 7, we've sort of laid out how the gas -- in the diagram how the gas comes into the franchise.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  And if you take away direct purchase customers, about 44 percent of the gas comes through Dawn and the remainder comes in on Niagara or -- comes in on TransCanada.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  Either through Niagara or through long-haul.  So from a supply point of view, we're fairly balanced.

And then from a -- but I think what you may be getting at more so -- which is not as related, maybe, to this topic but I can speak to it a little bit -- is peak day.

And we are fairly reliant on Dawn for peak day.  And that's part of why the GTA project and the Parkway West projects were undertaken.  One of the benefits of those projects was to increase reliability.

You know, we have loss of critical unit at Parkway now.  We have -- once Kings North is in place and further, we'll have looping of the TransCanada pipe further into our, you know, up around our franchise.

So, yes, we are reliant on Dawn, but we believe that Union has done a lot of work to ensure that the -- the robustness of their facilities, and we've been involved in some of those discussions.

And that's why -- you know, part of the reason for the GTA project was the -- not a revelation but, you know, the quantification that I think the number was something like 58 or 59 percent of our gas comes into the franchise through Parkway.

And so we -- that was part of the reason for that project.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  And by the way, one other point that I think we mentioned in our evidence is Nexus in no way increases our reliance on Dawn.

As we talked about earlier, it's replacing the Chicago supply.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  So, you know, it is gas coming into Dawn on Vector either from Chicago or on Nexus.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. LEBLANC:  So it doesn't increase our reliance on Dawn itself.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Just one other thing.  One last thing.  On the 44 percent, 54 percent, what would those numbers be if you included direct purchase gas?  Would it be higher?  Like would it be directionally?  And if you could say, percentage wise, what would it be if you rolled in direct purchase?

MR. LEBLANC:  Just give us a moment.  I will attempt some math; I hope I will get it right.  Andrew is looking for it.  He may already have it in evidence, but just let me -- I will attempt some math, here.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  So as a percentage of the whole --


MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  -- let me see, here.  We have to add this, this, and this, right?  Or this and...

So if my math is correct, so subject to check, 59 percent including direct purchase comes through Dawn.  So about 40 percent otherwise, and roughly 60 percent.  A little bit under 60 percent.

MR. BRETT:  Thanks for that, and those are my questions.  Thanks very much.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Tom.  Well, we're a little bit past our 12:30 lunch break.  I wonder if we should take lunch now for an hour and then come back with Energy Probe.

MR. BRETT:  Colin?

MR. SCHUCH:  Yes?

MR. BRETT:  Sorry to interrupt you.  I will not have any questions for Sussex this afternoon.

MR. SCHUCH:  Oh, thank you for letting us know, Tom.  So with that, I suggest we take an hour for lunch and return at 1:40 p.m.

Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:40 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:40 p.m.

MR. SCHUCH:  Would it be a bad thing if we started two minutes early?

MR. STEVENS:  As long as we can finish...

MR. SCHUCH:  I think I will go on air.

Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.  We continue with

Enbridge this afternoon, and I believe we have Energy Probe.

MR. YAUCH:  Sure.
Examination by Mr. Yauch:

MR. YAUCH:  So I have a couple of questions that I will be asking, and then I'm going to ask a couple of questions on behalf of Shelley Grice, but I will make sure you know the difference.

I just want to confirm that -- it's been said a couple of times today.  You said yesterday that the key risk to the project, according to Enbridge -- and Union said the same thing -- is the regulatory risk.  You're confident in the economics of it; you're confident in demand for the project, but you are concerned that you will invest the money and be left "holding the bag" according to the OEB.  Is that correct?  Is that a fair way to assess the major risk of the project?

MR. LEBLANC:  The amount of tabs I have in my binder, I'm surprised I don't have the tab, but I'll -- can I get you to repeat the question just so I make sure I --


MR. YAUCH:  So Union admitted yesterday, and it's been said today as well -- I just want to confirm -- that, according to Enbridge, the main risk of this project is the regulatory risk; that it doesn't want to invest in Nexus and then have the OEB turn around and say, "You can't recover those costs."  That's your main concern.  Right?  You're not worried about the economics or cost overruns or anything like that?

MR. LEBLANC:  No.  I think that's not the case whatsoever.  We cover all of what we believe are the major risks of this application and of the commitment to Nexus in our evidence, Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, starting at page 35.  So we talk about a number of those risks, and really this section of the evidence, you know, we're trying to be completely forthcoming for certain with the Board to demonstrate what are the benefits of this project and what are the risks.

And what I think you're talking about is -- and you know, gas supply from -- for Enbridge ratepayers is a pass-through to our customers.  The costs associated with it are passed through with zero markup.  Enbridge does not make any revenue or any earnings on the gas supply.

And so, in this circumstance, because this contract is sort of out of the norm and given the size of the contract and -- we wanted to get preapproval because -- because we don't benefit directly from this.  It is our customers that benefit.  We believe that customers should benefit from it but also take the risk on this.

Now, we've done a bunch of analyses, and we've negotiated a contract that we believe protects ratepayers from the risk of the contract, to the extent that we can reasonably do so, and so what we are doing is asking for preapproval so that shareholder is not at risk for something to which it cannot benefit in any way.

MR. YAUCH:  I guess the term -- the problem with the benefit.  So Enbridge does benefit from this in the fact that it is allowed to offer lower-cost natural gas to customers in the long run.  It induced demand and things like that.  So there is a benefit to Enbridge's project too.

But when you shift it preapproval, doesn't it shift almost all of the risk to the ratepayers and less to Enbridge?  Is that fair or not fair?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, I think we are asking ratepayers to bear the risk of the contract.  That's the purpose of the preapproval process.  The Board recognized that, in instances of large, unusual contracts like this, because the shareholder doesn't benefit from it, they would be reluctant to take on the risk associated with that contract even if there is significant benefit for ratepayers.  So what we're doing is applying under those guidelines to demonstrate to the Board we believe this is a good thing for the ratepayers.  Yes, it has risks; it also has benefits, but we think it's good for ratepayer.


We, as the utility, who do not profit from the sale or the delivery, the transportation of natural gas, shouldn't have to bear the risk, but we think it's a good thing for ratepayers.  It's unusual from our normal, so we want to get sort of an okay before we move forward.  I mean, that's what we're trying to do.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  So I guess the next question that follows that is:  Where is the threshold for where we seek preapproval and don't seek preapproval?  So does Enbridge have an idea?  At what point do costs become such a concern that you need preapproval or you don't?  And if we don't know what the threshold is, how do we ever determine where we move ahead with this type of process?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't think there is a specific -- a specific threshold.  You know, the guidelines -- just if you hold on a minute here, I can probably pull up at a high level what it is.  Just one second.

I think I've got it here.  So the Board -- what we say in our evidence, paragraph 120 -- so it's Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 44 -- is that:

"The Board recognized that utilities would be a necessary and desirable element in new infrastructure development, but would be reluctant to enter into long-term commitments for new infrastructure without assurance of cost recovery."

And then it says, in paragraph 21:

"In order to qualify for preapproval, the Board indicated that the guidelines should apply to contracts which support the development of new natural gas infrastructure and provide access to new natural gas supplies."

And then there were a number of, I believe, criteria that were laid out, and in paragraph 124, we go through that criteria to show that we believe this application does meet the Board's guidelines.

So you will see one of the criteria is -- is the greenfield pipeline.  So (a) here is Nexus is a greenfield pipeline and so on.  There is a number of criteria.  So greenfield pipeline; that the commitment helps assure that the project will proceed; that it's a contract out of the normal course of our business, you know, in terms of size and term and those types of things; that Nexus will bring significant benefits to the market and to our ratepayers; that the costs are competitive in relation to other supplies; that it fits well within Enbridge's supply plan for the future.  And then the last one was that the risks associated with the contract -- well, we believe the risks associated with the contract are manageable.  So those were the points that we tried to lay out that lead us to believe that this -- that this instance is appropriate and for a preapproval application.

MR. YAUCH:  Do you think a dollar figure has any -- is that the most -- a major component to it?  I mean, if this was a greenfield pipeline that wasn't very expensive, would you pursue the same process?  Is it really the dollar figure that pushes you to ask for preapproval?

MR. LEBLANC:  It's probably not the only item.  Certainly that's a big one, for sure.  But it's not the only item.  I think it's, you know, the fact that it is outside of the norm of our supply plan, and so we don't have as -- you know, when we're doing something that's sort of our norm.  And short-term within the scope of things we've done in the past in terms of gas supply, we have some assurance that, if we've done it in the past and we believe it makes sense, that the Board has seen us doing those things and there's some assurance from that that doing it sort of present and in the future would also be acceptable to the Board.

But when you have a contract that is, you know, to a new -- a new place, a greenfield pipe with substantial financial implications, we think that it is appropriate to ask for pre-approval.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  And would it be fair to view the project in terms of Enbridge's overall cap ex spending?  So if this accounted for just a small percentage of your overall spending, does it then still warrant pre-approval from the Board if it really wouldn't have a significant impact on Enbridge shareholders?

MR. LEBLANC:  This is not capital spending.  It's gas supply spending.  I guess I would start that way.

But if it was a small amount, I think Enbridge would be -- be more comfortable that they could potentially do something without pre-approval.

And that's the very nature of this.  It's because it is such a big commitment, is why we're asking for pre‑approval.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  So I am going to ask a couple on behalf of Shelley Grice, and they will be quick.

So in issue 1, interrogatory issue 1, TransCanada 3, Enbridge did an updated to landed cost analysis.  And the only change I could see in the ranking was that the TransCanada from Niagara, its landed costs were lower relative to the other ones.  That was the only ranking change.

Is that true?  And if that is true, how come the updated landed costs had such an impact on that pipeline as opposed to the others?  If that's clear.

 [Witness panel confers]


MR. LEBLANC:  [audio dropout]

MR. YAUCH:  Thank you.  If you compare that graph to appendix C in tab 3, Exhibit A, the only difference is that the Niagara is now the least cost on a landed cost basis.

Now, do you have an explanation for why there was the change in that one compared to the other ones?  That's it.

MR. WELBURN:  Yes.  So what we had updated in response to this particular IR were a number of things, including the exchange rate had changed, commodity forecasts had changed also.  But probably more significant, at least in regards to the Niagara path, is that the original analysis that we had done had an error in the Niagara price that was updated, and we updated for all of them.

So if you are going to do a comparison of this analysis, you would need to compare it with the updated version that we have sent out.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  And the last one is issue 3, Staff 16.  It looks to the exchange rate.  And when you run it at a Canadian dollar, that's about 60 cents to the U.S. dollar, Alliance becomes about equal to Nexus.  I think actually becomes equal to the base case for Nexus.

Can you explain why -- why the exchange rate seems to shift to Alliance so much, makes it much lower on a cost basis?

MR. WELBURN:  Sorry, I haven't actually done a percentage comparison across all of them, but I would not expect there to be any significant changes.

One of the -- one of the things to take note of, though, is when you start to make changes to the exchange rate, Alliance, because it is sourced in CREC, is already at a Canadian price.  So Alliance pricing won't change.

The same with the long-haul.  I am just trying to look how we labelled it in here.  Well, it would be the TCPL one also.  Because it's sourced at AECO, the prices for the commodity are already in Canadian dollars.  So a change to the exchange rate won't impact the commodity, which is a significant portion of the landed cost.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Brady.

Up next, I believe we have Mr. Ron Tolmie.  Are you ready to go?  Are you aware that we have these little green buttons that activate the microphone?

MR. TOLMIE:  It came on.
Examination by Mr. Tolmie:


MR. TOLMIE:  I have a weak voice, so I hope you can hear me.

Correct me if I'm wrong, but it appears to me that what Enbridge and Union are looking for is to get a long-term approval to employ the Nexus pipeline at full capacity for a 15-year period, up to 2032, roughly.  Is that correct?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, the term of the contract is for 15 years.

MR. TOLMIE:  But my question is:  Are you really just looking for a yes or no answer to the question?  Are you expecting the Board to come back with a lot of modifications to your plan?  Or do you just simply want an approval of what you have asked for?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, we would like the Board to approve, as we have filed.  We believe what we've put forward is reasonable, and we would like approval of our as asked.  
So, yes, we want a "yes."

MR. TOLMIE:  So this is quite a big project.  What fraction of Ontario's total consumption of natural gas might flow through this pipeline?

MR. LEBLANC:  Sorry, I will just dig out a calculator and hopefully I won't...

It's really hard to say, because you don't know necessarily if the gas will flow.  So there's 760,000 a day, dekatherms a day, of capacity going into -- into Ontario, which is about -- I will talk in gigajoules.  I will explain in a minute why.

So 800 -- which is about 800,000 a day of gigajoules that are going to come into Ontario.

That number, if it -- if the pipe was completely full and this is sort of the maximum possible, okay, if that pipe was completely full each and every day of the year, then about, I think about 300 -- something less than 300 terajoules -- terajoules?  Petajoules, petajoules of gas could flow on this pipe.

Ontario uses -- do I have that right?  I see people shaking their heads, so I'm wondering if I got the math completely wrong.

Maybe let's put it this way: 800,000 a day.  And I think the average Ontario gas usage is somewhere in the vicinity of 5,000 a day.  This is probably -- oh, 3 to 5,000; I'm not sure of the number exactly.

So it could be a substantial portion, if it was full each and every day.  But I don't think you will see that -- ours will be.  So we want to fill our pipe each and every day, and Union, I think, has indicated they intend to fill their pipe each and every day.

Marketers, if, you know, the others that have taken the pipe will use it as one outlet for their gas and they may take it to Ontario or they may take it to Michigan or Ohio or some other place; the Gulf, even.

MR. TOLMIE:  What -- when you say fill your pipe, you're referring to a pipe that is from Dawn to the end user?

MR. LEBLANC:  Sorry, fill my portion of the Nexus pipe.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  So I am looking for 110,000 dekatherms a day.  So I am saying, fill that capacity on the Nexus pipe.  Because we intend to fill it, because what we're replacing is something that we fill every day already.

So today we buy gas in Chicago and bring it to Ontario.  What we're doing is reducing how much we're bringing from Chicago and increasing the equivalent amount of gas coming from eastern Ohio.

MR. TOLMIE:  But you are asking for a preapproval of the -- using the full capacity of the pipeline throughout the whole period from an approvals point of view?

MR. LEBLANC:  We're asking for preapproval of the costs of the transportation contract.  So, I guess, not necessarily the gas, but the actual transportation contract of the pipe is what we're asking for preapproval of, If that makes any sense.  So, like, we're asking for approval to -- if you look at pipelines as a delivery truck, we're asking for approval to use the delivery truck for 15 years.  We are not necessarily asking for approval to fill the truck with gas necessarily.  That's what our intention is, but we haven't asked for that.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  But what you're looking for is a major increment to the infrastructure that would enable the supply of gas to Ontario.  It's quite a big deal, whether it is 500 or 1500 is not -- it's a big issue.  It's big.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  It's a -- certainly a good size pipe.  There's definitely other pipes that are bigger, but it's a significant amount, for sure.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  If we look at it from the point of view of the Board's responsibilities, one of those is, of course, to ensure that there is an infrastructure that can meet our energy needs.  So the question is:  Should we be boosting the infrastructure for fossil fuels?  Or maybe there are other ways in which the Board could achieve its end objectives.  Maybe there are better ways of doing the job rather than using gas, for example, for our energy.  And also the Board, I assume, has to worry about government objectives.  One of the broad government objectives is, in fact, to stop using fossil fuels or at least reduce them to the level that is possible.  So in reviewing this major infrastructure for that particular approach to supplying energy, they may be not fulfilling other objectives that would meet government objectives or that might do the job cheaper than natural gas or that might do it with less greenhouse gases or whatever.  So their objective is different from yours is, I guess, what I am driving at.

MR. LEBLANC:  The Board's objective?

MR. TOLMIE:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  Well, in this case, the Board has objectives, I think, maybe beyond our objectives, but my -- my mandate or objective is to make sure that the customers that we've -- that we're obligated to serve get the gas they need, and to do that, we develop a supply plan which includes considerations of cost, reliability, diversity, and flexibility.  And we develop a supply plan that we believe is required to meet the demand that we see coming from customers, but we develop it in a way to be able to respond to changes in demand.

So we develop our plan with some flexibility in mind.  So, yes, this contract is a 15-year contract, but we have some contracts that are much shorter than that, and they're staggered, and they vary, and they come from different sources.  So we develop enough flexibility into our supply plan to be able to meet the change in needs of our customers as well.  So to the extent customers' demand changes, we can respond to that need.  And certainly that's a consideration in this, and I think that's -- you know, that's an important consideration, but I believe this commitment fits well within our supply plan and allows us to -- to meet our customer' needs today and into the future.

MR. TOLMIE:  But Enbridge is just one cog in the wheel.  There are many other players in the game:  the people that produce the natural gas, and the people that are broadly responsible for making choices between energy sources for meeting our general needs.  So the Board, of course, has to consider all of these factors, not just your particular -- the amount of oil that goes into your cog.

MR. LEBLANC:  So, I mean, we're -- our mandate is to deliver -- is to purchase gas in a reasonable manner for our customers and deliver it to them, and we -- we have an obligation -- and we have an obligations to serve all of those customers who come to us and ask for gas.  So that's our mandate, you know.

If there is a policy question that the government is -- or objective that the government is trying to achieve, I don't think that's necessarily our -- you know, where we're going.

I think, for instance, you had asked a question about cap and trade, I believe, as part of your --


MR. TOLMIE:  I didn't.

MR. LEBLANC:  You didn't.  But someone did.  Maybe it was Energy Probe, maybe, a couple of -- and, you know, if government sets a policy like that and it drives a change in demand by customers, that's why we keep flexibility in our supply plan, to be able to respond to that.

So if cap and trade came in, and the goals, I think, are to reduce to 1990 levels, or maybe it's below 1990 levels by a certain period -- I can't remember the exact goals.  I don't even know if they're completely set yet or whether they're still working on them, but if -- whatever those goals are and if they're successful in that, our supply plan is designed such that we can reduce the amount of gas we bring into the system to meet that change in demand of customers.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  Well, let's deal of the issue of what governments expect, then.  Two months ago, the Federal Government met at the G7 meeting, and I will give you the headline:  "Canada commits to G7 plan to end use of fossil fuels," end use.

Now, this is approved by the Harper government, in fact.  There are arguments about when that would apply, you know, at the end of the century or the middle of the century, and we will make a decision on that collectively next month, obviously.

But some of the advocates of terminating the use of things like natural gas say we should do it at the middle of the century, which is not very far off the -- what you've set as the termination period for this particular contract. We can't do both.  Either we're going to use the fossil fuels into the middle of the century, or we're not.  Again, it can't go both ways.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  I'm not sure exactly if there was a question -- if you had a question there, but I guess I would respond by saying, again, our supply plan is designed to be flexible to allow -- if a significant reduction in demand does occur, we can respond to that demand change through our gas supply plan.  We designed it that way to make sure that -- as much as we can, to make sure that we meet customers' demand but don't, you know, overcommit to and cause costs to customers that they shouldn't have to pay.

MR. TOLMIE:  My next question is:  Can you, in fact, meet that demand?  Two weeks ago the U.S. released its broad objectives for reducing methane from production of fossil fuels, and that's the primary problem with natural gas, of course, that it has high GHG emission because of the methane that it has lost in the pipeline or lost in the ground itself.  So if, in fact, the U.S. does implement regulations that limit methane emissions to the 212 level less 45 percent, which is -- or 40 to 50 is their number -- would that mean you would not be able to meet your customers' requirements (a) and, more importantly, (b) would the U.S. permit exports of that amount of natural gas at a time when they are hard-pressed to meet the existing demands for natural gas?

MR. LEBLANC:  I'm not certain that they're struggling to meet their need for natural gas.

MR. TOLMIE:  Look ahead now.  There's virtually no regulations on the industry right now.  They can pretty well do as they please.

MR. LEBLANC:  Right.

MR. TOLMIE:  But once the government insists that they must comply with reductions, large reductions, in fact, in emissions, at the same time that they're switching over from coal to natural gas as a major energy source for their power plants, how do you get A to meet B?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't know the exact goals or the numbers to which you speak, but I do see a number of forecasts of production of natural gas and demand from various sources, and I've not seen a forecast that globally says that they don't believe they can meet the demand.

Now, what they factored into those analyses, I think we're kind of getting outside of the realm of this particular item, but I don't foresee that kind of constraint on supply to fill the Nexus pipe for the term that we've -- we're proposing to sign on for.

MR. TOLMIE:  In your responses on that question, you've looked at the potential of the Nexus and Utica -- not Nexus, but the Marcellus and Utica basins to provide future requirements.  And I think, you know, there is a suggestion that there is enough gas there to last for 600 years, but that's assuming that the only constraint is the supply.  But if, in fact, there is a constraint that says the limitation is the amount of greenhouse gas that is going to be produced, then perhaps that number is not 600.  It may be much, much smaller.

MR. LEBLANC:  I think any government making -- placing limitations on greenhouse gas has to balance between sort of the realities of the economy and the goals of reducing greenhouse gas.

And I don't -- I'm not an expert in this area in any way shape, or form, but I don't think that this is an overnight type of thing, and I believe there will be gas sufficient to fill our capacity on the Nexus pipe for the term that we're signed up for.

I don't have --


MR. TOLMIE:  You have a belief but no numbers?

MR. LEBLANC:  -- a broader explanation, I guess, at this point.

MR. TOLMIE:  Well, let's bring it home to Ontario here.

Ontario has also recently updated their expectations, and they would like to see a reduction in greenhouse gases of 30 percent by 3035 -- sorry, 37 percent by 3035 (sic), which is not very far off the time frame that you are looking at again, and they're looking at 80 percent by 2050, which is -- since it's not easy to replace things like the gas or kerosene that is used by airplanes, it really means we have to terminate the use of things like fossil fuels for heating our home.  It is not just gas, but we can't use coal, and we can't use oil, or whatever.  So here in Ontario you have the same basic problem that the limitation is not going to be adequate supply, but adequate capacity of the world to absorb the drawbacks of using this particular fuel.

Have you done any calculations to show how that limitation would define what you would be handling in this pipeline or delivering to your customer?

MR. LEBLANC:  I would only -- I guess I would answer that in this way.  This -- the capacity on this pipeline represents about 10 percent of the overall use of our customer base.  And so -- and we do have some contracts -- some other contracts at 15 years out of Niagara, to be fair.

So it is not just this.  We have a couple of areas which probably represent 30 percent or so of our entire demand.   So we're locked into transportation contracts for 15 years for about 30 percent of our demand.  Other contracts fall off at different intervals, as short as three years from now.

So I guess I would come back around to the same answer that I gave a couple of times already is that our plan is designed in a way to allow us to respond to pretty significant changes in demand from our customers.  So we believe, even with this contract approved, we have the tools in our supply plan available to us to respond to even fairly dramatic reductions in natural gas use.

MR. TOLMIE:  Would you undertake to prepare a spreadsheet or whatever that shows that your plan does, in fact, conform to the various government objectives, federal, U.S., provincial, UN, you name it?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think that is a bit of a tall order, but we already have agreed to provide a list of contracts which has the expiry dates.  So you can get a sense from them, certainly, of the amount of decline that we could -- we could implement as a result of the expiry dates of our contracts.

I think it is JT22.4.  So we will be providing that, which will give you a sense, but I am not an expert in all of the policies of the governments across the world.

MR. TOLMIE:  But that offloads an awful lot of calculations to whoever is going to undertake using that data.

MR. LEBLANC:  I guess I come back around to our obligation as we see it.  Our obligation is to meet our customer' needs, and we believe the plan is designed to do that and designed to respond to demand variations.  So I think we have met our responsibility to meet our customers' needs through our plan.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  Well the question, I guess, is whether there is sufficient data there to persuade Board members that the plan you have put forward does meet these objectives that have been set out by senior levels of government.

MR. LEBLANC:  I think that -- I think their understanding of our business and our contracts has been laid out sufficiently that they will be able to understand that, I believe.  I believe that is the case.

MR. TOLMIE:  One of the arguments that's put by the natural gas industry as a whole, and it shows up here and there in your own presentations, is that natural gas is inherently a low-GHG energy source.  That is a highly controversial point.

There are numerous industry experts who now say that natural gas is the worst of all fossil fuels; that the amount of gas that escapes from the pipeline creates a level of methane GHG that is more serious than the carbon dioxide that is produced by burning things like coal.

You haven't responded to any of the -- of that technical -- of those technical arguments in your submissions.  Can you do so?  Not now, obviously.  It is a complicated issue, but could you undertake to explain how you can meet the GHG objectives, if you start from presumptions about losses?

And, in particular, I would like to point out that a lot of these losses occur in the ground.  When you drill and fracture the shale, a good fraction of the gas escapes from the rock in which it's been imprisoned for 380 million years and stays in the ground, but it becomes a cloud in the ground.  It doesn't get picked up by the pipeline.  So there are actually five different mechanisms.  You've got the fracking fluid that captures some of this gas, and it's either dissolved or entrained in the fluid, but only half of that fluid is recovered.  The other half is still down in the ground.

You have the mobility of the gas compared to the mobility of the fracturing fluid that means that you, in fact, end up with tight gas in the ground that stays there because it hasn't enough mobility to get out of the rock, but it leaks out slowly.

And then you have issues like what happens after the bore hole has been capped.  That stops the gas from coming up the bore hole, but it's still down there, and it's still leaking out of the shale, which has now been highly fractured, and because it is a high-fracture area, there is a lot of diffusion directly out of the rock, directly out of the shale into these large service areas created by the fracturing service.

So all of that is building up year after year after year.  In fact, it's building up like a pressure cooker, and past history has shown that the only reason that you find gas in shale rock is that shale rock is highly impermeable to the methane and other constituents of the gas, so it's imprisoned in the rock.  The limestone at one time had just as much gas in it as the shale did, but it's all leaked out over the eons.

So what is happening is that you may be building a time capsule -- a time bomb that is building up pressure of methane in the ground that is eventually going to leak out, and somebody has to do the calculations and measurements of that mechanism for release of greenhouse gas before anyone should be approving that particular procedure for recovery of the gas.

MR. STEVENS:  So I think, as hopefully you can hear in Mr. LeBlanc's answers, we're trying to be helpful and responsive to some of the questions that you're raising insofar as they relate even remotely to the issues in this proceeding.

It's our view, though, that the question of emissions and GHG associated with shale gas is not something that's at all in scope of this proceeding.  This proceeding is one where Enbridge Gas Distribution is seeking approval under established guidelines that the Board has issued for the cost consequences of a long-term gas supply -- gas transportation contract.  It doesn't have anything to do, in our view, with the attributes of the gas being transported.  That is a much broader policy question that perhaps will be taken on by the Ontario Government or the Federal Government.  Perhaps won't be.  I don't know.  But it's not something that's going to be in front of the Energy Board in this proceeding.  What is in front of the Energy Board is whether or not this contract should be approved.

I think there is no controversy there is already shale gas as part of Ontario's supply mix.  Neither the government nor the Energy Board has chosen to this point to make comment on that or to determine that that's inappropriate, and we certainly don't see this as a proceeding where that's going to happen.  So, respectfully, we decline to answer questions along this line.

MR. TOLMIE:  I have a cousin who was killed by the release of carbon monoxide, so some of us, in fact, have a very direct interest on issues of safety, of whether this is damaging to our environment or not.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, please don't get me wrong, Mr. Tolmie.  I'm not trying to belittle the concerns you are raising, but, in our view, the Ontario Energy Board is an economic regulator.  They're not looking at safety aspects.  They're not looking predominantly at environmental issues.  They have an economic mandate to oversee the operation of Ontario's energy system, to put it very broadly.   And, in my view, the questions you are asking are not something that's properly within their purview in an application such as this.  It is not to say that they're illegitimate issues; it's just to say this isn't the place that those are going to be debated or determined.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  Let's assume they are legitimate issues from the broadest point of view.  What Board are you taking those issues to?

MR. STEVENS:  I assume that interested parties, like yourself, will find the proper places to deal with those issues, whether it's through lobbying or whether it's through courts or whether it's through other bodies, but in my view, the Ontario Energy Board and this type of application is not the proper forum.

MR. TOLMIE:  So you're really saying there should be no governmental forum; that it's up to individuals like myself to squawk.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm simply concerned, sir, with what is happening in this proceeding, and, in my view, this isn't the proper forum.

I am not expressing a view.  I'm not qualified to express a view, and, frankly, my view shouldn't matter as to what is the proper forum.  I'm simply talking about what we're here today to deal with.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  Let's go on then.  There are alternatives, and they deal with economics.  Forget entirely about the greenhouse gas issues.  I work on one of those areas where you can, in fact, collect the -- well, let's start from the point of view of why do we use natural gas for energy purposes.

One function is to heat our homes and our other buildings.  One function is to meet peak demand periods in the summer.  We have one caused by air conditioning needs, and in the winter we have another one.  A third is the need to deal with sudden changes in either supply or demand.  You've got -- if you're looking at electricity, in particular, you've got to be able to cope with sudden changes in both supply and demand, and gas is one of the ways of doing that because the generators can, in fact, react quickly to demand changes or supply changes.

Would those be, in your view, the three primary purposes for using natural gas?

MR. LEBLANC:  At the risk -- what were the three?  To heat our homes...

MR. TOLMIE:  Heating, peak generation, peak power generation --


MR. LEBLANC:  Okay.

MR. TOLMIE:  -- and fluctuations in supply and demand.

MR. LEBLANC:  Fluctuations in supply and demand of electricity or of...

MR. TOLMIE:  Of electricity, in particular, yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  Certainly those are some of the reasons for use of natural gas.  I guess hot water heating.  If you include that under the broader sort of umbrella of heating, natural gas is used for that.  It's used as feedstock for fertilizer.  It's used in other ways as well, but certainly -- certainly heating is one of the primary -- heating and electricity generation are two of the primary uses.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  Now, there are other ways of meeting all of those four demands.  You have added hot water to the list that I had given you.  There are other ways of doing the job that I would suggest would be a lot cheaper.  Forget about the fact they're also a lot cleaner.  They're simply cheaper.  Is it not relevant to consider those alternatives in a hearing like this?

MR. LEBLANC:  So I think you are getting, again, a little outside of the scope of this.  So, to me, that's getting back to policy issues, again, and what my mandate is, is to serve the needs of our customers' demand.  I'm obligated to.  If a customer asks for natural gas and they're in our franchise, I'm obligated to serve it.

MR. TOLMIE:  I'm in no way trying to be critical of you or your company.

MR. LEBLANC:  So I guess I would sort of turn back to what our counsel was saying is that I think you're treading into the area of government policy, and it's really not the -- this is not necessarily, I don't think, the forum to debate those issues.

MR. TOLMIE:  But does the Board not have a responsibility to try and meet the government policy objectives?

MR. STEVENS:  The Board certainly has -- it has an obligation to respond to directive -- directives and direction from government.

MR. TOLMIE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. STEVENS:  For example, the Board is engaged in a process right now to oversee the gas utilities increasing the conservation programs that they offer.  And the Board, on an ongoing basis, does pay attention to the demand forecasts of the utilities.

MR. TOLMIE:  So your answer is basically, yes, the Board is attempting to look at means of meeting government objectives.

MR. STEVENS:  Sure, they are, and that flows through, as Mr. LeBlanc has said, to the utilities.  The utilities ultimately have to meet their customers' demands, and what customers do or don't do will be influenced to some degree by what customers say.

I'm afraid we're going to go around in the same circle again and again.  You will have seen within the interrogatories responded to you, as well as those cross-referenced, Enbridge has explained what its demand forecast is over the term of this contract.  You can agree or disagree with that demand forecast, but it is explained, and it is indicated that there may be differences to that demand forecast depending what happens in the future.

The key point from our perspective is that Enbridge is maintaining an immense amount of flexibility in its supply planning, even with this Nexus contract.

This Nexus contract is not intended to meet the last 10 percent or the last 20 percent or the last 30 percent of its customers' demand over this period.  It represents a relatively small part of the supply portfolio.  There's lots of flexibility left over.  And it is a cost-effective way for Enbridge to reliably meet its forecast customer demands for the entire term of the contract.

MR. TOLMIE:  The government policies, of course, are to phase out the use of fossil fuels completely.  That doesn't jive with the argument that, well, we can afford to have a reduction in the overall supply capability by making other pipelines take the hit instead of Nexus.

If you -- the Nexus is a large facility.  It's a large part of the infrastructure for delivering the natural gas.  So if you say that the variations are going to be handled by other pipelines and not Nexus, that really implies you're only prepared to handle incremental changes.  You're not prepared to handle an 80 percent reduction or 100 percent reduction.

MR. STEVENS:  With respect, sir, if we're dealing with an 80 percent or 100 percent reduction, then we've got much bigger issues than this Nexus contract.  I mean, we've got distribution utilities that are built to meet customer demand.  We've got pipeline transmission facilities behind that built to meet demand.  If there is a fundamental change in our energy delivery requirements, that will be dealt with over time.

But, at present, we're not dealing with any current direction from the government.  We're not dealing with anything certain that would require the utilities to deal with those possibilities.

To the contrary, Enbridge has a robust forecast of its future demand, or a forecast of its future demand, which shows that that demand is likely to remain robust, and it is the company's obligation to meet that.

And you're welcome to make these arguments in front of the Board.  I'm not sure that it is really helping us in terms of the technical conference to understand the details and the evidence related to the relief being asked in this proceeding.

MR. TOLMIE:  What you're saying is that you don't want to deal with it, but you don't want to put forward your arguments for not wanting to deal with it.

You know, I suggested that it would be very constructive if, in fact, you showed how your plan does in fact meet the GHG reduction objectives, or whatever.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I'm sorry to become argumentative, but, number one, we don't agree with the premise.  Number two, we don't agree that is within scope of what this proceeding is about, so we respectfully decline to answer that question.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  What you have said is that you want to meet four broad objectives.  One is diversity.  Now, I guess, how do you define that?  For example, right now you have some -- the majority of the gas is still coming from western Canada.  You've got diversity between the supply basins, western Canada, and the Marcellus and Utica basins.

So we have diversity now, but if you look at the National Energy Board projections for production from the Western Canada facilities, they're going to virtually fall to zero in the quite near future.

So you have diversity now, but five years from now, you will be down to the point where it would appear that the shale gas is going to be your primary source of natural gas.  Is that correct?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't know from where you got your statistics there.

MR. TOLMIE:  The National Energy Board.

MR. LEBLANC:  Pardon me?

MR. TOLMIE:  National Energy Board.

MR. LEBLANC:  So can -- I don't have them in front of me, but that doesn't -- it doesn't ring true to me as to the types of forecasts that we see coming out of Western Canada.

MR. TOLMIE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. LEBLANC:  In fact, we probably have -- just give me a minute here.  So Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 2, page 20 of 65.  I will let them bring it up on the screen, here.

What you see here -- and this is provided by our expert, Sussex -- is a projection of WCSB production and demand in the region over time.  And as you can see -- and it is actually drawn from the National Energy Board, if you note the footnote.

And it shows production in the WCSB as growing over time out to and beyond the period of this contract, not that it necessarily is relevant to this contract, but...

So, I mean, this is from the National Energy Board.  I'm not sure where your numbers are coming from, but this is the numbers that we have from the National Energy Board, in terms of WC -- Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin production out to 2035.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  Those are total production, not what part of it you're using yourselves for Ontario needs.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  Well the numbers that I have seen were from their annual report on production.  And I don't have them at hand, so I won't attempt to -- but it would be useful if, in fact, you could produce some numbers that show, for your operations, how the supply sources would change over time.

MR. LEBLANC:  I can at least give you an idea of, under our current contracts, what would occur.

If we go to Board Staff 7, you can actually see we've identified Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin as part of our portfolio for November 1, 2017, both with and without this project.  So it is a couple of years out, and it is about 30 percent.

And at least for, you know, the next five, six years at least, those relative ratios should remain relatively constant.

Further out than that, we have, like I say, flexibility in our plans that allows us to potentially change that ratio, but that's sort of where we're at right now.  And for the next -- oh, and, yes, that's true, too.

At Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 32 of 46, so our original evidence, there's actually a table that shows our annual demand and divided up.  And one of the items there is Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin, so you can sort of see the progression there as well.  So that is out until 2032.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.  WCSB does not include shale gas produced in B.C. or Saskatchewan, does it?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think it does.  I think it's the broader Western Canadian Basin, not just Alberta.  It's B.C. as well, and I think northern -- northern parts of the area as well.

MR. TOLMIE:  Okay.

MR. LEBLANC:  And Saskatchewan I'm being told.

MR. TOLMIE:  The distinction is important.  If you look at whether you are producing the gas from the by-product of oil production or from shale gas, there's a very big difference in the potential for the emissions of methane between the two types of gas.  So it's worthwhile keeping those separate in your tables so that you can track the drawback of using the shale gas.

MR. LEBLANC:  Thank you.

MR. TOLMIE:  The second of the four major objectives was reliability.  Obviously, that's a highly laudable ambition, but if, in fact, the U.S. decides that it simply cannot export to Canada, are you not in a very severe problem?

MR. LEBLANC:  I guess, if that were to occur, that, yes, that it could be a severe problem.  I don't believe that that is likely to occur.  The relationship between the U.S. and Canada, I can't speak very broadly to this, but I think is such that they're not going to shut gas off at the border without notice, I don't think.  I would be very surprised if that eventuality occurred, I guess.  I can't substantiate why exactly, but I just -- I have a hard time believing that that would occur.

MR. TOLMIE:  Can I mention two words?  Keystone Pipeline.  We don't necessarily see eye to eye on these issues.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  One is an export, and one is an import, though.  I think they might be more interested in selling something out of their country than bringing something in perhaps.  I don't know.  I just note that distinction between --


MR. TOLMIE:  That certainly wasn't the case a decade ago.  A decade they were very anxious to get all the gas and oil they could from Canada, so things change pretty quickly.

MR. LEBLANC:  That could be the case.  I'm not aware of --


MR. TOLMIE:  Your third point was flexibility, and gas is, in fact, a very flexible energy source.  But you get equal flexibility by things like the energy storage systems that I'm talking about.  They supply peak energy needs.  They supply the short-term ability to handle supply and demand fluctuations, and they handle the -- what are the three points I made?  I have forgotten already.

But basically they do have the same capability in terms of delivering flexibility.  So I would certainly agree gas is a flexible fuel, but it's not the only flexible fuel.  We do have options, and those options are, in fact, not being very well served or looked at by the systems as they stand.

MR. LEBLANC:  I guess I would just circle back to the scope of this --


MR. TOLMIE:  It is just a comment on my part.  Okay?  I have to get my sales pitch in here somehow.

[Laughter]

MR. TOLMIE:  The same issues with regard to cost:  If you're using natural gas, you have to pay for the natural gas.  You have to pay for the delivery of the natural gas.  That's your business.  You have to pay for the consequences of using the natural gas, which are, you know, the order of $50 per tonne of greenhouse gases produced either in terms of damages that are caused by the gas or amelioration technology or in the form of taxes like cap and trade or straight carbon tax.

So natural gas is cheap compared to nuclear power, for example, but it is not cheap compared to the use of the energy sources that are all around our buildings.  There's enough energy surrounding this building to meet all of its requirements from now to doomsday, whereas natural gas will only do it for a time and does it at a relatively high cost.

So what I am driving at is:  Could you, in fact, bring out your argument for saying that this is an affordable form of energy a little more forcefully than you did in the presentations you've made?

MR. LEBLANC:  I think, under the -- with the infrastructure and the technologies that exist today, it is one of the most economical energy sources available to people today.  What the future holds in the development of other technologies, I think, is beyond the scope of this discussion, but certainly natural gas is one of the cheapest forms of energy available to customers that the infrastructure exists for, you know, in this day and age, at least.

MR. TOLMIE:  Well, I don't think it's appropriate --


MR. LEBLANC:  We may disagree, but that's my answer.

MR. TOLMIE:  We would disagree very strongly on that point.

I think that is all I had to ask.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Mr. Tolmie.

Next I have --


MR. KEIZER:  Colin, if I may, it's Charles Keizer for Union Gas.  Just a quick question in terms of timing:  I know we have Sussex here, and I am not sure about his flight arrangements in terms of being able to leave town.  So I wanted to get a sense of, if we could, what time is left with respect to the Enbridge witnesses and what is left for Sussex so that we can make sure that his travel arrangements, if they still exist, are appropriately met.  I know he is supposed to leave town.  Is that fair, Dave?

MR. STEVENS:  I think that's right.  Is there more than TCPL still to ask questions for Enbridge?  Do you know how long you will be?

MR. ROSS:  Fifteen, 20 minutes, I think.

MR. SCHUCH:  That would bring us up to about three o'clock when we could start Sussex.

MR. KEIZER:  We will be on time.

MR. SCHUCH:  How does that meet with --


MR. STEVENS:  Do we have any sense -- I mean, we may as well get to it now.  Do we have a sense of who is going to be asking questions of Sussex, of Mr. Stephens?

MR. WOLNIK:  I have about 15, tops, 20 minutes on -- for me, and Dwayne has asked me to ask a couple of questions on his behalf too that is included in that time frame.

MR. STEVENS:  And is there anybody else?

MR. SCHUCH:  I have Energy Probe listed.

MR. YAUCH:  I would have, at most, five minutes for Sussex, but I might not ask anything depending on the other questions.

MR. SCHUCH:  Well, does anybody know if School Energy Coalition will have any questions?  I don't even know if they're in the room.

MR. KEZIER:  They're not.

MR. STEVENS:  Are there TransCanada questions of Sussex?

MR. ROSS:  I don't think we have any.

MR. STEVENS:  So it may be good news.

MR. KEZIER:  Sounds good to me.

MR. SCHUCH:  It sounds like we could be done much earlier than 5:30.

MR. KEZIER:  Great.  Thank you very much.

MR. SCHUCH:  TransCanada, are you ready to go?

MR. ROSS:  Yes, I am.  I will try to go through this as quickly as I can.
Examination by Mr. Ross:

MR. ROSS:  Just following up on some discussion you had with Mr. Quinn and Mr. Wolnik earlier today, I just had a couple of clarifying questions.  You were talking to Mr. Quinn about the supplies that you purchased at Niagara and Chippawa for the 22-month period starting January 2016, and you mentioned that you had purchased that at a price of Dawn index minus 46 cents.  Is that correct?

MR. LEBLANC:  That was the average, correct.

MR. ROSS:  And is that -- what units is that in?  Is that U.S. per million BTUs or cents per gJ?

MR. LEBLANC:  No.  Canadian dollars per gJ.

MR. ROSS:  Canadian dollars per gJ, thank you.

And was that for -- you mentioned that you had bought some of the gas for strictly the winter period and some of it year round.  So was that an average of all that or just the year-round stuff?

MR. LEBLANC:  It was a weighted average of all, all contracts signed to date.  So we haven't signed all of our contracts yet.  We're still working on one, but all of the contracts -- an average of all of the contracts signed to date.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Thank you.

And in discussion with Mr. Wolnik, you talked about the status of Nexus and the start-up date of November 2017, and I am not going to ask you anything about that, but is there also expansion required on DTE to make this happen?

MR. LEBLANC:  There may be minor work, but I don't think there is anything substantial, and the reason I say that is, when discussing the contract and the rates and what was greenfield and what was not, they isolated -- they talked about all the substantial construction is the greenfield pipe, which is -- which terminates at Willow Run.  So there may be some work to be done on the DTE system, but it's not major work, at least that is my understanding.

MR. ROSS:  So is that something that they need state regulatory board approval or not, or do you know?

MR. LEBLANC:  I'm not familiar necessarily with the process there.  I do know that the precedent agreement requires them to seek any approvals they require to make the service available.

So their obligation is to seek out those approvals, and I expect, if they saw the need, that they would be seeking that approval.

MR. ROSS:  But, in any event, you don't see that as anything likely to hold things up?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't think so, no.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Now, we also talked about that there was roughly 800,000 gJs a day of gas making its way through Nexus to Dawn and that -- I know that Union has their own unique route to get to Dawn, and Enbridge has their own route to get to Dawn.  The three producers -- is it your understanding that Nexus actually acquires capacity on Vector, on their behalf, to get to Dawn?

MR. LEBLANC:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Now, if I could just refer you to your evidence at Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 1, page 32.  You don't necessarily have to turn it up, but at paragraphs 82 and 83 --


MR. LEBLANC:  I have that.

MR. ROSS:  -- you talk about restructuring your contracts on Vector.

MR. LEBLANC:  I do.

MR. ROSS:  And so you currently -- I'm just trying to confirm a few things here.  Currently you have 175,000 dekatherms a day that you transport from Jolliet, Illinois, to Dawn.  Correct?

MR. LEBLANC:  Currently today, not -- actually, currently today we have a bit more than that, but there are some contracts rolling off.  By the time -- by November -- by December 1, that will be our capacity from Jolliet to Dawn.  We currently have another 100,000 dekatherms a day from Jolliet to Dawn that's going to roll off in the near future.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  So you say as of December 1, 2015 that will be the situation?

MR. LEBLANC:  Correct.

MR. ROSS:  And so as I understand your plan, you're going to take 110,000 of that and change the receipt point to Milford Junction and move your Nexus volumes up through Nexus and Vector to Dawn for 110,000 and continue moving 65,000 from Jolliet to Dawn?

MR. LEBLANC:  Correct.

MR. ROSS:  At least until you may decide to increase your Nexus volumes?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  We -- so if we decided to increase our Nexus volumes, we could.  And the provisions are there in the proposal from Vector to allow us to offset more Chicago, if we chose.  I suppose we could negotiate something different, if we chose that.

But we really haven't put our minds to that option.  You know, we don't plan at this point in time to take that option.  But it's there as an option, certainly, and it could offset Chicago, or it -- or we could keep our connection to Chicago and have them contract for more capacity on Vector, or we could contract from --


So I guess it could offset Chicago, not necessarily.  So...

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  And I understand your -- the rate on Vector for the full haul from Jolliet to Dawn is 18 cents U.S.?

MR. LEBLANC:  That is the rate offered to us as part of the restructuring, yes.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  So is that more or less than the current rate you are paying?

MR. LEBLANC:  That is less.

MR. ROSS:  What are you paying now?

MR. LEBLANC:  The current rate, based on the terms that we have, is 25 cents.  And what that comes with is the flexibility of annual renewals and sort of short-term commitments.  So part of the give and take of that 18 cents would be to move from an annual renewal process to a three-year renewal process.  So there is a give and take, there.  We get a lower rate in exchange for less flexibility, if we choose to go that route.

MR. ROSS:  So is there -- and, of course, you get a lower -- you've already negotiated this arrangement, have you?

MR. LEBLANC:  They -- we have -- we have discussed the arrangement and they have provided us with a proposal to assist us in making sure that we have, you know, the arrangements in place to be able to handle the Nexus contract should we move forward with the Nexus contract.

MR. ROSS:  The reason I ask that is I think your evidence says you expect to restructure contracts in this way.

MR. LEBLANC:  I guess it is contingent on approval of -- preapproval of the Nexus contract.

So, you know, the way the offer is given to us is, if you do move forward with Nexus, here's how we will restructure our contracts so that you can move that gas on, on Vector.

MR. ROSS:  So as far as you're concerned, it is a done deal, basically?

MR. LEBLANC:  No.  We haven't accepted their option yet.  We have until -- they've provided the offer with an end date.  The current end date of that offer is, on or before November 30, we have to indicate whether or not we want to proceed with the restructuring or not.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  And was that designed to sort of coordinate with the notice period that you have to provide Nexus?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes, to some extent.  So, I mean, we were targeting -- or targeting a decision here sort of -- October 1 is the CP date.  There's some flexibility, which I think we talked about, in the IRs.

So from October 1 to November 30, if we got an answer on October 1, we've got a couple of months to work through things with Nexus -- or with Vector.

So, yes, there is some timing there related to the Nexus contract, for sure.

MR. ROSS:  So with this restructuring of tolls on Vector from a full toll of 25 cents down to 18 cents in one case, and 16 cents in another case, they're losing some revenues.  And so I was just -- it seems to me they would be losing some revenues.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  So they lose revenues in exchange for assurance of term.  Right?

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  So they're offering us 16 cents for the path from Milford to Dawn and 18 cents for the whole path in exchange for the Nexus piece, a 15-year commitment, and for the non-Nexus piece, three-year renewals rather than one-year renewals.

And we can choose one or the other.  We don't have to take both aspects of the restructuring.  We could just do the Nexus and continuing our annual renewal at 25 cents.  That's sort of the standard option, as well.  So we have some options.

MR. ROSS:  So do you see the potential for Vector having to go in to see a rate increase to compensate them for this lower revenue?

MR. LEBLANC:  I don't know the details of the Vector economics, so I can't tell you that for certain.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  We had some discussions -- we also had some discussions about -- or yesterday, I think, with Mr. Shorts about Vector asking to basically increase -- or Vector asking Union to increase their capability to receive gas at Dawn by about 0.3 PJs a day as a result of all of this.  Do you recall that?

MR. LEBLANC:  I do recall -- I think I do, anyway.  We'll see.

MR. ROSS:  And I think it's mentioned somewhere that there's likely to be an expansion of Vector because of this through the whole system almost.

MR. LEBLANC:  I'm not sure that that's what was said.  The way I understand it is Vector will obviously have to create facilities to connect with Rover and with Nexus, if they're built.  And I understand that it's really primarily through the hydraulics of the existing system and how those new connections would affect it that they can move the extra 300,000 a day.  So I don't know if there's any substantial increases to Vector's assets beyond the interconnects with the pipelines.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  But you do mention in your evidence that there's -- that there will involve a likely expansion of Vector in southern and eastern Michigan, northern Indiana, eastern Illinois, and western Ontario.  So it seems like a fairly major piece of business.

MR. LEBLANC:  Can you point me to that?  Sorry.

MR. ROSS:  A-3, tab 1, page 11.

MR. LEBLANC:  So it says, "A likely expansion."

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MR. LEBLANC:  It doesn't say anything about magnitude, I don't believe.

MR. ROSS:  No, no.  No.  No.  I took those exact words, "likely expansion of Vector," in three or four different areas.

MR. LEBLANC:  My understanding is that reference is just to the capability of interconnecting with the pipelines.  As far as I know, there's no substantial build or additional compression or anything required on Vector to allow the gas to flow.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Because my next question was:  Will this expansion of 0.3 PJs a day, which is not a small volume -- it's 300,000 gJs a day, which is maybe a 20 percent expansion of Vector to the east end -- you don't see the costs associated with that maybe impacting Vector tolls?

MR. LEBLANC:  So my understanding -- my understanding is this is about hydraulics and that there wouldn't be large cost increases to Vector tolls.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Could you turn to A3, tab 1, page 21?

MR. LEBLANC:  I have it.

MR. ROSS:  I'm trying to find it myself here.  Sorry, I'm just trying to pull it up here myself.  I'm not sure if I have the reference.  A3 -- in any event, there is table 2 there.  Do I have the right -- sorry, it's A3, tab 1.  Did I say tab 3?

MR. LEBLANC:  Oh, tab 1?  There's a table 2 on page 24 of our original evidence.  Is that what you're referring to, the table of landed cost?

MR. ROSS:  It shows the make-up of your supply.

MR. LEBLANC:  Oh, maybe page -- there -- tables 3 and 4 in our evidence talk about the make-up of our supply, pages 31 and 32.

MR. ROSS:  Somehow I wrote down the wrong reference.  Oh, this is it, yes.  Could you just explain to me what the franchise supply means?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  Most of that is actually Ontario T service customers delivering gas into the franchise.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  And does the rest of your direct purchase suppliers spread between, say, the WCSB and Dawn?

MR. LEBLANC:  I can probably help there by referring what's becoming my go-to interrogatory, Staff 7, where -- what that -- if you look at some of the fine -- and I know -- I apologize for the size -- but some of the finer numbers in the diagrams, you do see, for instance, WCSB.  It's below.

So, sorry, I will wait until it is on the screen here.

So if you look at sort of the WCSB circle, you see WCSB 265, and then you see WTS minus 35.  So that's Western T service volumes.

Then you will see -- in the big blob in the middle, you will see total of 1193 less OTS, which is Ontario T, WTS, and DTS.  So Ontario -- so Ontario T, Western T, and Dawn T service, which is the new service that we're offering our customers starting this fall.  I don't know if that helps.

MR. ROSS:  Yes, it does.

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.

MR. ROSS:  Thank you.

Now, you had a discussion yesterday a little bit with Mr. Schuch about $700 million savings that Union had presented, and that was Staff 6, Exhibit I, T-1, Enbridge.Staff 6.

MR. LEBLANC:  I have it.

MR. ROSS:  And your answer was -- you were asked to compare the savings that you had calculated with those that Union had calculated, and you essentially said, I think, you didn't really calculate any savings, but you understand that the difference between what you have and what Union stated is predominantly the result of the Nexus transportation capacity displacing more expensive Alliance-Vector and TransCanada transportation capacity.

MR. LEBLANC:  That was discussed yesterday in Union's.  I think Union clarified that the savings was not directly about capacity, but about the landed cost of those -- those supplies.  So I guess I would bring forward their clarification on our words.

MR. ROSS:  But it would include the landed cost of Alliance, gas going through Alliance and delivered to Dawn?

MR. LEBLANC:  Again, it's Union's numbers.  So Union's probably the right one to speak to them.  But, yes, my understanding is what they compared is Alliance and -- Alliance path and TransCanada Mainline path delivery of gas to Dawn versus the Nexus path.

MR. ROSS:  Right.  And you didn't -- your Alliance contracts expire later this year, as I understand it.  So you didn't associate any savings with those Alliance contracts because they're not in place when Nexus comes around.  Is that correct?

MR. LEBLANC:  Yes.  So I think we've tried to explain, I hope, that the -- and, again, in Board Staff 7, we try to explain what we're replacing.  So we are replacing Chicago supply.  So because we're replacing Chicago supply, it wouldn't be -- you can't -- you know, those paths aren't related to this Nexus decision.

So the savings of, you know -- we're replacing Chicago, not Alliance.  So we can't calculate a savings against Alliance, because we're not re-policing that.

MR. ROSS:  Right.  And likewise, any of your contract restrictions on TransCanada, where you switch long haul to short haul, that has taken place already or will take place prior to Nexus flowing, you didn't consider that as a savings either, because you've already built that in?

MR. LEBLANC:  Not related to the Nexus, the Nexus decision, specifically.  I mean, there are certainly savings there, and it was really part of the GTA project that those savings were discussed.  There are substantial savings there, but it's not really related to this decision specifically.  So we didn't think it was appropriate to make that comparison here.

MR. ROSS:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's all I have.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Murray.

I suggest we take our afternoon break, and we can switch panels.  How about 15 minutes, which puts us to, I think, 3:25 p.m.?

MR. WOLNIK:  Could we do a shorter break?  I have to leave by about 3:30 p.m.  Could we do 10 minutes?

MR. SCHUCH:  Can we do 10 minutes, return at 3:20 p.m.?  Let's do that.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:10 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:20 p.m.

MR. SCHUCH:  Welcome back from the break, everybody.  We have our final witness panel of this technical conference, Sussex, and Mr. Stevens, I believe you will be introducing the witness.
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MR. STEVENS:  Thanks, Colin.

With us today is Jim Stephens from Sussex Economic Advisors.  He's the primary author of the market study report that has been filed by both Enbridge and Union.  Within Enbridge's evidence, it is at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 2, and within Union's evidence, it is at Exhibit A, schedule 3.

I don't have any preliminary questions for Mr. Sussex -- for Mr. Stephens.  I should know his last name.

[Laughter]

MR. STEVENS:  And I don't believe that there is anything that you need to speak to in your evidence before you begin, Mr. Stephens?

MR. STEPHENS:  No, there is not.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, with that, I think we're ready for questions.

MR. SCHUCH:  I will turn it over to Mr. Wolnik.
Examination by Mr. Wolnik:

MR. WOLNIK:  Good afternoon.  John Wolnik.  I represent the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, and I have a few questions on our behalf and also on behalf of FRPO, who couldn't be here today.

So just to dig into our questions first, I wonder if you could turn to page 38 of your report, and I think it's up on the screen here.  And maybe just to lead into this, more generally at the early part of your report, you talk about the seven primary benefits that Nexus will bring, and I didn't want to get into those.  I wanted to focus on sort of the other benefits that you have highlighted here.

And, more particularly, in the second line you talk about other stakeholders, including power generation entities, direct purchase customers, et cetera.  And can you tell me what you intended to mean by what benefits would power generation entities receive from Nexus?

MR. STEPHENS:  So when you focus on the availability of natural gas at the Dawn hub for various counterparties, what Nexus will do is it will add additional supply sources for those counterparties, be they power generators or direct purchase customers.

In addition, what we will provide is different pricing points, so you will add the Dominion South Point, for example, or you may add other Marcellus or Utica supply pricing points to the Dawn hub price formation itself.  You may have different counterparties that are also going to be transacting at Dawn because of the new Nexus pipeline.

I think all those factors together would allow those that buy the Dawn index to have an opportunity to see additional liquidity via counterparties or different price structures or different price signals, and when you take that in conjunction with what Dawn already has, I think you see some increased price stability for all customers.

MR. WOLNIK:  They're not any different than the other direct purchase customers, are they?  I mean, all those customers that you have highlighted here would presumably be subject to those same benefits?

MR. STEPHENS:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So you have highlighted power generation entities, but you really -- there is nothing special about that.

MR. STEPHENS:  That's correct.  It was just an example.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thanks.

And I wonder if we could turn to a response that I think you did.  Now, this was to a Union interrogatory, LPMA 8.  And in there -- I think the first bullet point -- you talk about, I guess, increasing liquidity, and you talked about the new incremental pipeline to the region.  Nexus will provide an incremental 1.5 Bcf a day of capacity to the region.  A lot of the discussion we had both yesterday and today talked about only 0.3 PJs a day of increased capacity, and I think Mr. LeBlanc talked about that coming as a result of sort of more beneficial hydraulics, presumably because of where the Nexus pipeline enters the Vector system.

So I wonder:  Am I misunderstanding something here?  Is there 1.5 Bcf a day of incremental capacity, or is it 0.3?

MR. STEPHENS:  So the way the response is drafted 1.5 to the region in general, which would include Michigan, it's 0.3 to Dawn.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  That's helpful, thanks.

And in APPrO 5, we had sort of talked a little bit about liquidity in your response to a Union-APPrO 5 undertaking.  I don't think it's necessary to turn it up.  But Dawn -- well, maybe we could actually turn it up, if you don't mind.

MR. STEPHENS:  I have it.

MR. WOLNIK:  I think if you go down to about page -- I think it's 2 or 3, that couple of pages there.  Just go down a couple of pages from this, another one after this.  There we go.

So you talk about Dawn being quite liquid, and you have indicated that it is in the tier 1 category now, and I assume tier 1 is the best category?

MR. STEPHENS:  That's correct.

MR. WOLNIK:  And I think Union indicated yesterday that it's probably the second-most liquid hub in North America.  Would you agree with that?

MR. STEPHENS:  I would.

MR. WOLNIK:  So it seems like it's pretty liquid already.  But it seems to me in this proceeding both Union and Enbridge are indicating that increased liquidity is an important aspect of this project, but it seems to be already very liquid, so I'm just trying to understand how much incremental benefit there will be from a liquidity perspective.  I'm not suggesting there aren't other benefits, but from a straight liquidity perspective, how important do you think the increased liquidity will be from this pipeline?

MR. STEPHENS:  So I think it was talked about yesterday as, well, you saw some days when there were other pipelines where gas is being dispatched from Dawn to Great Lakes and going sort of up to Emerson, and so you see there are other opportunities where there may be some additional demand at Dawn that's changed from where historic flows have been.

So I think what Nexus will do is provide not only a new supply source for the Dawn hub, but also maybe augment some of those other transactions where you may have some volumes leaving Dawn.  So I think what Nexus will do is, in addition to the different counterparties that may be there, is sort of enhance what's there today because of some of the physical flows that we have seen on the system.

MR. WOLNIK:  So from the Board's perspective, how important do you think the improvement in liquidity is in approving this project?  Union has indicated there's some $700 million in benefits, which I would have thought would be pretty significant.  Would you put this up in that same category, or is this less important than that?

MR. STEPHENS:  So I think the cost savings, of course, is a critical component of the Union decision.

The thing about liquidity is that who would benefit the most is sort of the smaller customers.  Now, when you think about the large players, they have significant resources and staff to structure deals that looks further upstream for opportunities.  But some of the smaller players really focus on buying at the Dawn index and focusing on the opportunity to buy and sell at Dawn.  And so any opportunity to provide a better price signal or more transparent price signal, I think not only helps those buying from Dawn and maybe the larger players, like Union and Enbridge, but also the smaller customers that really are focused only on buying at the index.

MR. WOLNIK:  And because Union and Enbridge are buying this for system supply, that capacity itself, that's not contributing to the liquidity, is it?

MR. STEPHENS:  Can you restate the question, please?

MR. WOLNIK:  Union and -- as I understand it, liquidity comes from a variety of things including number of counterparties, et cetera.  But my understanding is Union and Enbridge aren't buying the gas at Kensington for resale at Dawn.  They're buying it for their own system needs, and they're selling it at the meter basically as demand requires.

So the capacity associated with their volumes, the 260 dekatherms roughly, those volumes aren't contributing to liquidity.  It's the other shippers that might be selling at Dawn.  Would you agree with that?

MR. STEPHENS:  So I think that -- I think it's all the volumes that probably contribute to the liquidity value at Dawn.  I definitely think that when you see what volumes move on -- let me give you an example.

For example, today when I checked the gas prices, Dominion South Point was around 1.45, and Dawn is around $3 dollars today.  These are U.S. per dekatherm.  If you add in maybe 80 cents, round numbers, so you're at 2.20 from South Point on Nexus today to Dawn.

If you put that gas into storage versus buying $3 gas at Dawn into storage today, then during the wintertime you would have an opportunity to withdraw that gas at a much lower price than if you inject the Dawn gas today.

I think that is an opportunity for liquidity for cross seasons where you may have the benefit of that Dawn gas being dispatched during -- sorry, the South Point gas being dispatched during the wintertime, and because of the opportunity to purchase that gas, maybe additional gas that is not available at Dawn that might not otherwise would have been, it would increase the gas for other parties.

So I think it's sort of all of the volumes that actually help the liquidity metrics.

MR. WOLNIK:  As I recall the -- sort of, Enbridge and Union's position, I think Enbridge was indicating that their volume is replacing gas that they would otherwise have purchased in Chicago, and I think Union was displacing volumes that otherwise would come from Alliance.  I guess I'm not quite understanding why those volumes -- I mean, they weren't buying gas at Dawn in the first place.  They were buying gas elsewhere.

So I'm just -- I'm still not understanding why those volumes would still add to the liquidity at Dawn, because they're just transiting that location, albeit over time.

MR. STEPHENS:  So when you think about the value of Nexus and whether it is talking about the LDCs shippers or about the producer shippers, it is in addition to the capacity that may be available to Dawn.  I think that, earlier, Mr. LeBlanc talked about how with capacity there's an option for gas to come to marketplace.

So I think what Nexus does, it provides an additional option for natural gas to find the Dawn hub, and that option will be in addition to what's already existing in the marketplace today, whether it is on Vector or from Great Lakes.  So I think it is the overall increase and the optionality of capacity to find its way to Dawn is what you find increases liquidity for counterparties.

MR. WOLNIK:  So you're -- maybe I'm still not quite picking up on your point, then.

You're still saying that the volumes in respect of what Union and Enbridge are buying will still add to liquidity at Dawn, even though they weren't buying it there before, and they're not selling at Dawn today?  I appreciate that Nexus, overall, may add to it, but I want to just focus on utility volumes.

MR. STEPHENS:  Yes.  So the capacity that's being used by the utilities on Nexus to provide gas to Dawn means that there is maybe some additional capacity that is not being used on another pipeline, because they have a portfolio of assets.  And so I think that opportunity may provide additional sales at Dawn, or additional supply to Dawn, that others may be able to use.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  And I don't know if you were in the room earlier today when I asked Mr. LeBlanc this question, but would you agree that those producers that hold capacity on Nexus and/or Rover, for that matter, to the extent that they have a delivery point of Dawn or any place upstream of Dawn, that they will profit maximize and sell their gas to the highest market?  Highest price market?

MR. STEPHENS:  So absent an agreement they may have to sell to a counterparty under existing terms and conditions, they will most likely take the gas to the market that provides them the most value.

MR. WOLNIK:  Great.  Okay.  Thanks.  Those are my questions, but I will just maybe ask the questions from FRPO, if I could.

And the first question is:  Can you describe how New England LDCs have worked together to negotiate rates and intermediate terms with Spectra and Kinder Morgan for recent pipeline expansion projects?

MR. STEPHENS:  So the -- several of the New England local distribution companies joined together to negotiate a joint -- to negotiate as a group with Tennessee and Spectra.

They have individual precedent agreements, but they have terms that are quite similar.

MR. WOLNIK:  And do those terms -- let me just maybe read it directly -- by pooling the volumes, have smaller New England LDCs been able to obtain terms that would be similar to those associated with anchor shipper status?

MR. STEPHENS:  So I can't speak to each project and to the definition of anchor shipper status.  I would assume that a smaller company may have benefited from the negotiating power of the larger company, but I am not sure how that translated into their particular status on the pipeline.

MR. WOLNIK:  And are you aware of anything that would prevent Union and Enbridge, and perhaps other Ontario LDCs, from doing the same thing?  And I presume they mean on this Nexus project.

MR. STEPHENS:  So the thing about the New England marketplace is that all of the LDCs were in a very similar position.  They had some reliance on offshore sable gas supplies that were dwindling, and so they needed to have a replacement service, replacement supply, coming into the region.  And so what they did is they negotiated together, because they're all in the same spot and needed to replace that sable gas.

I think it is usually not typical for the LDCs to all be in the same spot.  They all have unusual and unique circumstances and situation.  If there was an opportunity where they were in a similar spot and had criteria that were the same, perhaps they would have benefited from a joint activity.

MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all our collective questions.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnik.

I see we've got a couple of others.  No further questions?

The next person I have on my list is Energy Probe.  Questions by Mr. Yauch:

MR. YAUCH:  I just have one question.  It's on page 19, Figure 3.5.

MR. STEPHENS:  I have that.

MR. YAUCH:  You have that?  You're good?  Okay.

So this shows the natural gas demand for Alberta going forward.  Is this based on the 2013 report from Alberta?  I think at the bottom it says, "The Alberta Energy Reserves 2013 Supply Demand Outlook."  Are these figures based on that?

MR. STEPHENS:  Yes.

MR. YAUCH:  Now, would it change -- in that report, the average price that they're expecting for oil was $95 a barrel U.S. for 2014.  Obviously, that didn't occur.  Does that change that graph significantly with oil prices almost 50 percent lower than that forecast?

MR. STEPHENS:  So, given this is a long-term forecast, my expectation would be that, in the short term, oil price adjustments would be less of a consideration than the long-term expectation for oil price and oil production.

So I think that, short term, you may have an impact on capital budgets or some development plans, but if you're looking out longer term, I think there are structural market issues or price signals over longer periods of time that would probably drive the forecast.

MR. YAUCH:  So you think that the main driver of gas demand in Alberta, which would be oil sands development, even with the slashing of capital budgets occurring now, that demand would essentially double from what it is now?

MR. STEPHENS:  There are still infrastructure investments being made on different pipelines.  So I think there is a potential for this forecast to be the same.  I take your point, though, that lower prices could result in lower forecasts on some of these markets, but it's probably a little bit too early to tell.

MR. YAUCH:  And if -- just to follow the thought through, if demand in the oil sands wasn't as robust as it is in this graph, conceivably that would mean more natural gas to be exported to places like Ontario at a lower price?

MR. STEPHENS:  It would depend on whether or not the development of the natural gas was economic.  I think that some of the price signals that support the development of natural gas are some of the markets that are listed here.  And so if the price of natural gas in the markets where they were now pursuing was less economic compared to these markets, then you may not have that outcome that you described.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Yes.  Those are all my questions.  Thanks.

MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you, Brady.

Just so I can be sure, I haven't missed anyone?  Was there anyone?  Any other party?

And I think we're just about ready to, then, wrap up.  Were there any remarks that need to be made prior to...

Well, then.

MR. KEIZER:  Nothing from Union.

MR. STEVENS:  We also have nothing to add.

MR. SCHUCH:  Oh, thank you, David.

Well, thank you very much, everyone, witnesses and all of the parties, and also to our court reporter, who has been patiently doing a great job as usual.

With that, then, we will conclude the technical conference.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 3:40 p.m.
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